

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



PROGRESS IN POLYMER SCIENCE

Prog. Polym. Sci. 32 (2007) 1-29

www.elsevier.com/locate/ppolysci

Living ring-opening metathesis polymerization

Christopher W. Bielawski^{a,1,*}, Robert H. Grubbs^{b,2,*}

^aDepartment of Chemistry and Biochemistry, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX 78712, USA ^bDivision of Chemistry and Chemical Engineering, California Institute of Technology, Pasadena, CA 91125, USA

Received 6 June 2006; received in revised form 11 August 2006; accepted 15 August 2006 Available online 10 October 2006

Abstract

Since the discovery of olefin metathesis in the mid-1950s, there has been great interest in using this versatile reaction to synthesize macromolecular materials. More recently, living ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP), a variation of the olefin metathesis reaction, has emerged as a particularly powerful method for synthesizing polymers with tunable sizes, shapes, and functions. The technique has found tremendous utility in preparing materials with interesting biological, electronic, and mechanical properties. This review covers the fundamental aspects of living ROMP and briefly traces its historical development from a catalyst-design perspective. Highlights from the recent literature are used to illustrate the utility of living ROMP in the preparation of macromolecular materials with advanced structures and functions. A discussion on the current status of state-of-the-art catalysts for use in living ROMP reactions as well as opportunities for the future concludes this review.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP); Living polymerization; Review; Olefin metathesis; Titanium; Tantalum; Tungsten; Molybdenum; Ruthenium

Contents

1.	Overv	view of ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP)
	1.1.	Introduction
	1.2.	ROMP essentials: mechanism and thermodynamics
	1.3.	Living ring-opening metathesis polymerization
2. Catalysts for living ROMP		ysts for living ROMP
	2.1.	Historical aspects
	2.2.	Ill-defined catalysts
	2.3.	Titanium
	2.4.	Tantalum
	2.5.	Tungsten

*Corresponding authors.

0079-6700/\$ - see front matter © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2006.08.006

E-mail addresses: bielawski@cm.utexas.edu (C.W. Bielawski), rhg@caltech.edu (R.H. Grubbs).

¹Tel.: +1 512 232 3839; fax: +1 512 471 8696.

²Tel.: +1 626 395 6003; fax: +1 626 564 9297.

	2.6. Molybdenum	11
	2.7. Ruthenium	15
3.	Challenges and perspectives for the future	20
	3.1. Development of new catalysts	21
	3.2. Polymerization of "new" and "old" monomers	21
4.	Conclusion	22
	Acknowledgements	23
	References	23

1. Overview of ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP)

1.1. Introduction

Although a relatively new player on the field of polymer chemistry, ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP) has emerged as a powerful and broadly applicable method for synthesizing macromolecular materials [1]. The origins of ROMP can be traced to the mid-1950s when various metals and reagents were combined to uncover new transformations and reactivities involving olefins. However, the rapid rise in popularity and utility of this polymerization technique is the result of extensive work on the identification and isolation of key intermediates involved in the general olefin metathesis reaction [2]. This led to the development of welldefined ROMP catalysts and ultimately enabled the synthesis of a wide range of polymers with complex architectures and useful functions. The aim of this review is to provide the reader with a "user's manual" to living ROMP so they may readily begin applying this unique and powerful polymerization method. Following a brief overview of ROMP, a historical account of the polymerization technique will be given. Particular emphasis will be placed on the transition metal catalysts used to mediate the polymerization and their current status in contemporary polymer chemistry. The review will conclude with some current challenges and predictions for the future.

1.2. ROMP essentials: mechanism and thermodynamics

Ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP) is a chain growth polymerization process where a mixture of cyclic olefins is converted to a polymeric material (see Fig. 1 for an illustrative example) [3]. The mechanism of the polymerization is based on

olefin metathesis, a unique metal-mediated carboncarbon double bond exchange process [4]. As a result, any unsaturation associated with the monomer is conserved as it is converted to polymer. This is an important feature that distinguishes ROMP from typical olefin addition polymerizations (e.g. ethylene \rightarrow polyethylene).

A general mechanism for ROMP, based on Chauvin's original proposal [5], is shown in Fig. 2. Initiation begins with coordination of a transition metal alkylidene complex to a cyclic olefin. Subsequent [2+2]-cycloaddition affords a four-memmetallacyclobutane intermediate which bered effectively forms the beginning of a growing polymer chain. This intermediate undergoes a cycloreversion reaction to afford a new metal alkylidene. Although the resulting complex has increased in size (due to the incorporated monomer), its reactivity toward cyclic olefins is similar to the initiator. Hence, analogous steps are repeated during the propagation stage until polymerization ceases (i.e. all monomer is consumed, a reaction equilibrium is reached, or the reaction is terminated). Living ROMP reactions are commonly quenched deliberately through the addition of a specialized reagent. The function of this reagent is to (1) selectively remove and deactivate the transition metal from the end of the growing polymer chain and (2) install a known functional group in place of the metal [6].

There are three important features regarding metal-mediated ROMP reactions. First, it is important to note that the propagating metal centers on the growing polymer chains may exist in either



Fig. 1. A generalized example of a ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP) reaction.



Fig. 2. A general mechanism to a typical ROMP reaction.

the metallacyclobutane or metal alkylidene form. This difference depends on the transition metal and its associated ligands, as well as the reaction conditions. Second, like most olefin metathesis reactions, ROMP reactions are generally reversible. Thus, the basic mechanism illustrated in Fig. 2 can proceed in the opposite direction as shown. Third, although most ROMP reactions are reversible, they are equilibrium-controlled and the position of the equilibrium (monomer vs. polymer) can be predicted by considering the thermodynamics of the polymerization. As with other ring-opening polymerizations, the reaction is driven from monomer to polymer by the release of strain associated with the cyclic olefin (so-called "ring strain") balanced by entropic penalties. The most common monomers used in ROMP are cyclic olefins which possess a considerable degree of strain (>5 kcal/mol) such as cyclobutene, cyclopentene, cis-cyclooctene, and norbornene [7]. One notable exception is cyclohexene. With low ringstrain, this cyclic olefin has very little enthalpic driving force to be polymerized using ROMP.

Accordingly, the temperature and concentration at which the ROMP is conducted has strong influences over the outcome of the reaction. Using the Gibbs free energy equation, one can derive a "ceiling temperature" and a related concentration at which polymerization (for any cyclic olefin) will not occur [8]. Essentially, at this concentration/temperature juncture the entropic penalty is too high to be compensated by the enthalpic contribution associated with the release of ring-strain. These considerations are important when attempting the ROMP of any new cyclic olefin. Generally, the most favorable conditions for a successful ROMP reaction is to use the highest monomer concentration at the lowest temperature possible.

In addition to the general ROMP mechanism illustrated in Fig. 2 (and its related depolymerization mechanism), the equilibria noted above can be established via other metathetical pathways, including intermolecular chain-transfer and intramolecular chain-transfer (so-called "backbiting") reactions. Examples of these types of secondary metathesis reactions are shown in Fig. 3. In an intermolecular chain-transfer reaction, one polymer chain containing an active metal alkylidene on its terminus can react with any olefin along the backbone of a different polymer chain in the same reaction vessel. Although the total number of polymer chains remains the same, the molecular weights of the individual polymers will increase or decrease accordingly. In a backbiting reaction, the active terminus of a polymer chain reacts with itself to release a cyclic species and a polymer chain of reduced molecular weight. Collectively, these chaintransfer reactions effectively broaden molecular weight distribution (or polydispersity) of the system.

Another implication of equilibrium controlled polymerizations such as ROMP is the propensity to form cyclic oligomers. According to the Jacobson-Stockmayer theory of ring-chain equilibria, the formation of cyclic oligomers will always accompany the formation of high molecular weight polymer [9]. The total amount of cyclic species present will depend on factors such as solvent, cis/trans ratio of the polymer backbone, rigidity of the monomer, reaction time, and concentration. Formation of cyclic species is favored at higher temperatures and lower concentrations with a critical value dependent on the factors noted above. While these side reactions challenge the realization of living polymerizations based on ROMP (see below), they can be advantageous. For example,



Fig. 3. Examples of secondary metathesis reactions in ROMP reactions. (Top) An example of intermolecular chain transfer producing multiple products with varying molecular weights. Note that the total number of polymer chains and active species remains unchanged. (Bottom) An example of intramolecular chain transfer producing an active polymer chain of reduced molecular weight and a cyclic species.

cyclic oligomers can be synthesized in high yields by simply conducting the ROMP reaction under relatively dilute conditions [10].

1.3. Living ring-opening metathesis polymerization

In 1956, Swarzc defined a "living polymerization" as one that proceeds "without chain transfer or termination" [11,12]. Under certain conditions (defined below), living polymerizations afford polymeric materials that generally have very narrow molecular weight distributions. These distributions are usually quantified through determination of the sample's polydispersity index (PDI), which follows the equation: $PDI = M_w/M_n = 1 + 1/DP$, where $M_{\rm w}$ is the weight-averaged molecular weight, $M_{\rm n}$ is the number-averaged molecular weight, and DP is the degree of polymerization (i.e. the average number of monomer units per polymer chain). Living polymerizations can often be distinguished from condensation or kinetically-controlled (i.e. free radical) polymerizations by analyzing the evolution of the polymer's molecular weight as a function of time and/or monomer conversion. Condensation polymerizations generally provide high molecular weight polymer only at very high conversions while kinetically controlled polymerizations provide high polymer at relatively early stages. In contrast, molecular weight is directly proportional to monomer conversion in living polymerizations since all chain ends are growing at essentially the same rate. As a result, Gold demonstrated that even when the rate of propagation is orders of magnitude greater than the rate of initiation, a living polymerization

can lead to polymers with low polydispersities [13]. However, in systems where the rate of initiation is faster or similar to the rate of propagation, control over the polymerization is obtained at an earlier stage. Under these conditions, access to welldefined, monodispersed materials of low molecular weight is possible.

Thus, in addition to Swarzc's original constraint, we will require a ROMP reaction to exhibit the following characteristics in order to be considered "living and controlled": (1) fast and complete initiation, (2) exhibits a linear relationship between the degree of polymerization (typically measured as the number-average molecular weight of the polymer, $M_{\rm n}$) and monomer consumption, and (3) PDIs < 1.5 [14]. Assuming complete conversion of monomer to polymer, this enables the synthesis of well-defined polymers with narrow distributions and predictable molecular weights specified by the initial monomer to initiator ratio (M/I). Under a broader context, a ROMP reaction with these features opens the capacity to prepare well-defined block-, graft-, and other types of copolymers, end-functionalized polymers, and various other polymeric materials with complex architectures and useful functions [15].

When considering the metal-mediated and equilibrium nature of most ROMP reactions, it quickly becomes apparent that very special metathesis catalysts are needed to satisfy the aforementioned requirements. The catalyst should: (1) convert to growing polymer chains quantitatively and rapidly (i.e. exhibit fast initiation kinetics), (2) mediate a polymerization without an appreciable amount of (intramolecular or intermolecular) chain transfer or premature termination, (3) react with accessible terminating agents to facilitate selective end-functionalization, (4) display good solubilities in common organic solvents (or better: aqueous media), and (5) for practical reasons, show high stability toward moisture, air, and common organic functional groups.

2. Catalysts for living ROMP

2.1. Historical aspects

The advances in ROMP can be attributed to tremendous efforts by a large number of researchers dedicated to the development of well-defined, functional group tolerant catalysts amenable to olefin metathesis. Early catalyst systems were often heterogeneous mixtures that were extremely sensitive toward air and moisture, difficult to characterize, and almost impossible to systematically study and optimize. It was immediately recognized that the development of a catalyst with a well-defined structure was essential for olefin metathesis to reach its full potential. This was especially true for the development of a living ROMP catalyst where knowledge and precise control over polymerization kinetics is critical. It is beyond the scope of this review to give an in-depth analysis of this rich and fascinating history, however, this section includes selected milestones in the historical development of these catalysts suitable for living ROMP. The aim is to provide the reader with an appreciation for the origin and progression of this field which may lead to insight into how challenges in the future may be addressed.

2.2. Ill-defined catalysts

Although the use of olefin metathesis in synthetic organic chemistry (e.g. ring-closing metathesis, cross-metathesis, ring-opening cross metathesis, etc.) has gained in prominence [16], its roots were founded in the field of polymer and petroleum chemistry. In fact, due to their similar beginnings, there were considerable misunderstandings regarding the relationships and respective mechanisms of Ziegler–Natta type olefin addition polymerizations and ROMP.

While studying the oligomerization of ethylene using alkyl aluminum catalysts, Ziegler isolated butenes rather than oligomeric materials [17], a

reaction that was ultimately discovered to be catalyzed by Ni salts (contaminants from the reaction vessel). While exploring the utility of other metals, Ziegler and Natta found a series of titanium salts that could polymerize ethylene and propylene to high polymer: work that served as the basis for much of the present polyolefin industry and culminated in the 1963 Nobel Prize in Chemistry [18]. The olefin metathesis reaction was discovered serendipitously by groups searching for new transition metal catalysts and co-catalysts to facilitate the polymerization of other olefins. Interestingly, a majority of these results remained relatively obscure for a number of years. However, this changed dramatically after Phillips Petroleum informed the chemical community that they commercialized this reaction as the "triolefin process" [19] in the 1960s. As a result, massive efforts toward understanding, optimizing, and applying the olefin metathesis reaction were launched. Particular attention was directed toward the isolation and characterization of metal-carbene complexes and metallacyclobutanes, both of which are key intermediates in metathetical reactions (see Fig. 2) [20].

The potential of olefin metathesis in the synthesis of polymeric materials was borne out from reports by Truett and coworkers at Dupont and Natta at almost the same time the reaction was discovered [21]. They independently found that a polymer could be obtained from norbornene using heterogeneous mixtures of various Ti, W, or Mo halides that were often enhanced with strongly Lewis acidic Al co-catalysts. Importantly, the polymer was unsaturated with a repeating unit that was essentially 1,3-dimethylidenecyclopentane (see Fig. 4). This suggested that the norbornene ring had somehow opened during the polymerization. Since the carbon-carbon double bonds along the backbones of the polynorbornenes were mostly of cis geometry, the mechanism of the polymerization was believed to occur through a ring-opening reaction that originated at the bridgehead carbon.

Soon after, similar reports on the conversion of norbornene and other cyclic olefins into unsaturated polymers began to emerge. Calderon and coworkers at Goodyear reported a new catalyst system that



Fig. 4. The ring-opening metathesis polymerization of norbornene.

was prepared from a mixture of WCl₆, AlEt₂Cl, and ethanol [22]. Importantly, this mixture provided a homogeneous catalyst that showed reproducible activities which created opportunities for commercial applications. The catalyst also helped in demonstrating the potential of ROMP in synthesizing new macromolecular materials. For example, in the late 1960s, Calderon and coworkers reported that polymerization of 1-methyl-1,5-cyclooctadiene afforded a material that was essentially a perfectly alternating copolymer of 1,4-butadiene and isoprene (see Fig. 5) [23].

A large number of other catalyst systems based on a wide range of transition metals were also discovered by Natta, Michelotti, Dall'Asta, Banks, Rinehart, and other researchers from around the world [24]. Detailed studies on the performance of many of these catalysts in ROMP can be found in reports by Osborn, Rooney, Ivin, Feast, and others [25]. Although ROMP reactions using these catalyst mixtures (heterogeneous or homogeneous) were not living and many required extremely dry and air-free conditions, they collectively provided insight into the mechanism of olefin metathesis and built a solid foundation for the development of well-defined catalysts.

One of the first reports of a well-defined catalyst that was capable of mediating ROMP was from Katz in 1976. He reported a series of tungsten complexes (CO)₅W = CPhR (1, R = Ph or OCH₃), which were previously prepared by Casey and Fischer [26], that were found to catalyze the polymerization of a variety of cyclic olefins, including cyclobutene, cycloheptene, cyclooctene, and norbornene, without the need for any cocatalyst



Fig. 5. The ring-opening metathesis polymerization of 1-methyl-1,5-cyclooctadiene afforded a material with a structure consistent with a perfectly alternating polymer of butadiene and isoprene.



Fig. 6. Polymerization of various cyclic olefins (cyclobutene, cycloheptene, cyclooctene, and norbornene) with well-defined tungsten-akylidene complexes.

(see Fig. 6). Although there was little molecular weight control over these polymerizations and the polydispersities of the resultant polymers were relatively broad (PDI>1.85), the disubstituted methylidene moiety on the catalyst was found on the ends of the polymer chains [27]. Thus, the catalyst appeared to suffer from either poor initiation characteristics and/or extensive secondary metathesis reactions (or both). Regardless, the contribution provided tremendous credence to the feasibility of a catalyst capable of mediating a living ROMP.

2.3. Titanium

The first examples of single component, welldefined catalysts capable of mediating living ROMP reactions were based on Ti. As shown in Fig. 7, by reacting the Tebbe reagent (2) [28] with various olefins in the presence of pyridines (to sequester the aluminum), a variety of well-defined, metathesis active bis(cyclopentadienyl) titanacyclobutanes (3) were obtained [29]. Although these complexes were not extremely active, they did mediate the ROMP of norbornene without any evidence of chain transfer reactions [30].

Subsequent attention focused on the synthesis of a well-defined Ti catalyst that exhibited rapid initiation kinetics at experimentally practical temperatures through modification of the substitution pattern on the metallacyclobutane ring [31]. For example, complex 4, prepared via reaction of 2 with 3.3-dimethyl-1-butene, was found to mediate the ROMP of norbornene at a convenient 60 °C (see Fig. 8). At elevated temperatures, the titanacyclobutane 4 is believed to undergo a cycloreversion reaction which affords a reactive Ti methylidene and a volatile alkene. The resulting coordinatively unsaturated Ti methylidene quickly binds norbornene and undergoes another [2+2] cycloaddition reaction to afford 5. At this point, the reaction vessel can be cooled to room temperature and this complex can be isolated. However, in the presence



Fig. 7. Synthesis titanacyclobutanes 3 from the Tebbe reagent (2).



Fig. 8. Synthesis and utility of titanacyclobutanes in mediating living ROMP reactions. (Cp = cyclopentadiene)



Fig. 9. Quenching a living Ti-mediated ROMP of norbornene with benzaldehyde installs a benzylidene moiety at the end of the respective polymer chain.

of excess norbornene at elevated temperatures $(>60 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$, a polynorbornene with a Ti alkylidene end-group (6) is obtained.

Notably, these Ti catalysts provide polymers with narrow polydispersities (PDI < 1.2) and with molecular weights that scale linearly with the amount of monomer consumed. Since the rate-determining step of the ROMP is the unimolecular cycloreversion of the titanacycle noted above, the rate of the polymerization is proportional to the concentration of the catalyst (i.e. the rate equation is zero order in monomer). This provides an extremely convenient method to modify molecular weight of the polymer chains. The complexes can simply be heated in a large excess of monomer until the desired molecular weight is reached.

Like the Tebbe reagent, these Ti-based ROMP catalysts react with carbonyl containing compounds in a Wittig-type fashion to form substituted olefins and a deactivated Ti oxide species. This reactivity pattern provides a convenient method to not only terminate the polymerization but also to install functional end-groups. For example, addition of benzaldehyde to the reaction vessel at the conclusion of a polymerization selectively installs a benzylidene moiety on one terminus of the respective polymer chains (see Fig. 9).

The ability of these Ti catalysts to mediate living ROMP reactions facilitated the synthesis of macromolecular materials with advanced architectures as well as functional materials. An early example of preparing block copolymers using living ROMP is shown in Fig. 10. By sequentially adding various norbornene derivatives to a Ti-based initiator 7, di- and triblock copolymers were prepared with very low polydispersities [32,33]. Subsequently, a variety of bifunctional and multifunctional initiators based on these Ti catalysts were also developed and used in the construction of macromolecular materials with advanced topologies [34]. Despite their low activities, most of the major requirements and advantages of living polymerizations, including a flexible catalyst design to control initiation kinetics a means to install functional and well-defined endgroups, and the ability to form block copolymers, were first demonstrated with Ti-based initiators.

2.4. Tantalum

Shortly after the Ti complexes were reported, a new series of ROMP-active, well-defined complexes (8) based on tantalum were introduced by Schrock and coworkers (see Fig. 11) [35]. These complexes were prepared in three steps from commerciallyavailable TaCl₅ by sequential treatment with $Zn(CH_2CMe_3)_2$, THF, and the aryloxide ligand in excellent overall yields. While these complexes have been shown to polymerize norbornene in a wellcontrolled fashion, they possessed higher activities than their Ti predecessors. As a result, it was found to be necessary to monitor the ROMP reactions if materials with low polydispersities were desired [36]. For example, stopping a polymerization of norbornene (M/I = 200) at 75% monomer conversion provided a polynorbornene with a molecular weight of $32\,100\,\text{Da}$ and a PDI = 1.04. However, if this



Fig. 10. Synthesis of triblock copolymers using living ROMP.



8a, Ar = 2,6-diisopropylbenzene



8b, Ar = 2,4,6-triisopropylbenzene

Fig. 11. ROMP of norbornene using various Ta catalysts.

same polymerization is taken to completion (i.e. complete consumption of monomer), polymers with larger molecular weights were observed but the PDI of these materials increased to values >1.6. The discrepancy has been attributed to secondary metathesis reactions as a result of the high activity of the catalyst combined with slow initiation kinetics. Thus, while the rates of secondary metathesis reactions are slower than chain propagation, they appear to become competitive as the polymerization approaches completion. The mechanism of the ROMP reaction using these catalysts is believed to proceed similarly as their Ti predecessors. Indeed, the rates of polymerization are first-order with respect to the Ta complex and independent of the

concentration of norbornene, suggesting that the metallacyclobutane reversion is again the ratedetermining step of the polymerization reaction.

The propensity of these Ta based catalysts to facilitate secondary metathesis reactions was successfully reduced through the incorporation of bulky, electron rich diisopropylphenoxide ligands [37] which essentially decreased their electrophilic character (see Fig. 11). As a result, norbornene was successfully polymerized to completion using this catalyst and the resultant polymers obtained at the conclusion of the reaction exhibited very narrow polydispersities (PDI > 1.1). Another distinguishing feature of this catalyst **8b** is that propagating chains appear to have alkylidene end-groups (as opposed to metallacyclobutane structures common with the aforementioned Ti complexes and Ta-based 8a). Thus, the rates of polymerization with these catalysts are second-order and dependent on the catalyst and monomer concentration. Both catalysts 8a and 8b react with aldehydes and ketones in a Wittig-type fashion, which provides a convenient method for terminating the ROMP and installing functional end-groups.

The Ti and Ta complexes mentioned above are extremely Lewis acidic as a result of their high oxidation states. In addition to carbonyls, they react rapidly with most heteroatom-containing functional groups (hydroxyl, amino, etc.), placing limitations on their utility in living ROMP reactions. However, more importantly, they were an outstanding testament to the power of catalyst design in tailoring activity. Attention soon turned toward the discovery of new catalysts that maintained ROMP activity and structural tunability but also exhibited a broader range of functional group tolerance.

2.5. Tungsten

Olefin metathesis active catalysts based on tungsten have been employed for almost a half century. In fact, several commercial processes have been designed around the use of various tungstenbased metathesis catalysts. However, for most of this time, the catalysts were based on ill-defined and/or heterogeneous mixtures. While many of these catalyst systems were successful in mediating ROMP, they did not show living characteristics. Furthermore, many of these catalysts were highly Lewis acidic and were sensitive to most heteroatomcontaining functional groups.

As noted above, Fischer and Casey prepared the first well-defined catalysts based on tungsten. While these catalysts were capable of polymerizing strained cyclic olefins, they did not do so in a living fashion. In the late 1970s, Schrock and Osborn were developing new classes of well-defined, tungsten-based catalysts based on the general structures of $W(=CHC(CH_3)_3)(OCH_2-t-Bu)_2Br_2$ (9) [38]. As shown in Fig. 12, they were found to polymerize a variety of derivatized norbornenes in a living manner at low temperatures and were also subsequently used to make block copolymers when a Lewis acid (such as GaBr₃) was included during the ROMP reactions [39,40].

A variety of Lewis-acid free initiators based on the general structure $W(=CH-t-Bu)(CH_2-t-Bu)$ -

Cl(OAr)(O(CHC(CH₃)₂)₂ were reported by Basset and coworkers [41]. These single-component catalysts showed exceptional functional group tolerance and were reported to mediate the polymerization of a variety of functionalized norbornenes, including norborn-5-ene-2-vl acetate and norborn-5-ene-carbonitrile. Notably, complex $W(= C(CH_2)_4)(OCH_2)$ t-Bu)₂Cl₂ was reported to polymerize exo-norborn-5-ene-2,3-dicarboxylic anhydride, which was a strong testament to the increased functional group tolerance of these catalysts [42]. As shown in Fig. 13, complex 10, which possessed a bulky aryloxy substituent, was shown to facilitate stereocontrol over the polymerization of 1-methylnorbornene and provided high cis polymers with a strong head-to-tail preference [43]. The high activity of these catalysts promoted secondary metathesis reactions which prevented the corresponding ROMP reaction from showing living character. However, these results were an important demonstration that catalysts with increased functional group tolerance and an ability to exert stereochemical control over the ROMP could be made.



Fig. 13. Stereoselective ROMP of 1-methylnorbornene using **10** as a catalyst provides high cis poly(1-methylnorbornene) with a head-to-tail preference in the repeating units of the polymer chain.



Fig. 12. (Left) Representative examples of various substituted norbornenes found to undergo living ROMP using tungsten-based catalyst **9**. (Right) An example of forming block copolymers using **9**. Note that the middle block contains a mixture of head-to-head and head-to-tail repeat units.

Schrock and coworkers modified the design of the catalyst described above to arrive at a new singlecomponent, Lewis-acid free, imido-alkoxy based catalyst system (11) that showed outstanding activities in ROMP [44]. A particularly useful feature of these catalysts is their alkoxide ligands which were shown to modulate the activity of the corresponding catalysts over an impressive range. For example, addition of an excess of norbornene to 11a resulted in a living ROMP and afforded polymers with predictable molecular weights and polydispersities as low as 1.03 after quenching with benzaldehyde [45]. Increasing the electrophilic character of the catalyst via replacement of the hydrogenated alkoxy ligands with fluorinated analogues substantially increased their activity in olefin metathesis reactions. In particular, catalysts 11b and **11c** readily scrambled cis-2-pentene (**11a** does not) and ROMP of norbornene with these catalysts results in secondary metathesis reactions as well as slow initiation relative to propagation (see Fig. 14).

Catalysts with similar activities but increased functional group tolerance were obtained using oxotungsten based alkylidene complexes W(=CH-t- $Bu(O)(PR_3)(OAr)_2$. These catalysts were found to mediate the living ROMP of 2,3-dicarbomethoxynorbornadiene and 2,3-bis(trifluoromethyl)norbornadienes [46] to give polymers with high (>95%) cis olefin content in their backbones and high (>95%)isotacticity. There was also an excellent linear relationship between the molecular weight of the polymer and the initial monomer to catalyst ratio. Notably, the catalysts appear to show very little propensity to facilitate secondary metathesis reactions as there is no change in the PDI (which can often be as low as 1.01) of the polymer even after prolonged reaction in solution. The polymerizations are extremely rapid as more than 100 equiv of monomer can be polymerized in minutes. These W catalysts were also found to display Wittig-type reactivities in analogy to their Ti and Ta precursors. As such, the addition of ketones or aldehydes can be



Fig. 14. Structures of W-based imido alkylidenes.

used to terminate the polymerization and install functional end-groups.

These W catalysts have been shown to mediate the living ROMP of other classes of cyclic olefins. As discussed in Section 1.1, cyclopentene is considerably less strained than norbornene which increases opportunities for various types of backbiting reactions. Thus, this monomer is considerably more difficult to polymerize in a living fashion and generally requires low temperatures. For example, a living polymerization of cyclopentene was conducted at -40 °C with **11a** and afforded a polypentenamer with a PDI of 1.08 [47]. It was important to monitor the ROMP as extended exposure to catalyst caused the polydispersity of the material to broaden over time.

In contrast to cyclopentene, cyclobutene is considerably strained and readily undergoes ROMP. As a result, the rates of initiation are often slower than the rates of propagation, limiting control over the ROMP and leading to polydisperse materials. To enable living ROMP reactions of cyclobutenes, a donor ligand such as trimethylphosphine (PMe₃) must be included in the polymerization [48]. This ligand reversibly binds to the catalyst and reduces its propensity to mediate olefin metathesis. As a result, the rate of the polymerization is reduced relative to initiation and the ROMP adopts living character. Other donors such as dimethylphenylphosphine. phenyldimethylphosphine, pyridine, quinuclidine, and tetrahydrofuran may also be used, although, as a result of their weaker binding affinity, larger amounts are required. Interestingly, ROMP of cyclobutene provides polybutadiene with a "perfect" 1,4-microstructure.

The advantages and high activity of W-based catalysts were manifested in the synthesis of organic materials with promise in electronic applications. A key requirement for application of these materials in any electronic device is conductivity which necessitates an extensively unsaturated or conjugated polymeric backbone. The prototypical example is polyacetylene, which interestingly was discovered in the Natta group. As shown in Fig. 15, exposing acetylene to typical classical olefin addition polymerization catalysts (trialkylaluminum



Fig. 15. Polymerization of acetylene at various temperatures using Ziegler–Natta catalysts.

reagents mixed with titanium alkoxides) at elevated temperatures produced polyacetylene as a red powder, which was later identified as the trans isomer. Performing the polymerization at low temperatures afforded the cis isomer. Unfortunately, these materials were insoluble and sensitive toward oxidation which curtailed further efforts toward studying these materials. The area was revitalized in the early 1970s when Shirakawa reported a modification of Natta's original procedure that allowed for the synthesis of a usable thin film of the polymeric material. In conjunction with Heeger and MacDiarmid, it was discovered that the electrical conductivity of this film could be drastically enhanced through the introduction of various dopants and oxidants. This outstanding discovery opened the field of organic electronics and ultimately resulted in the 2000 Nobel Prize in Chemistry [49].

As shown in Fig. 16, a wide variety of routes to prepare polyacetylene using ROMP have been developed. To solve the problem of intractability, a new monomer (12) was developed that upon polymerization would provide a soluble and processable precursor to polyacetylene [50]. Subsequent thermal or chemical treatment of the polymer obtained from the ROMP of 12 would eliminate a volatile small molecule and liberate polyacetylene. This route is often called the Durham route to polyacetylene. As a means to limit mass loss associated with this approach, benzvalene (13) was synthesized and subjected to ROMP conditions [51]. Rearrangement of the resulting polymer produced polyacetylene. In a third approach, the ROMP of cyclooctatetraene (COT) (14) using various W catalysts provided a "one-step" synthesis of polyacetylene from a liquid monomer, which after doping, provided a highly conductive material [52]. Limitations of the latter approach included a non-living nature of the ROMP reaction due to competing secondary metathesis reactions (e.g. benzene is one possible product that forms upon intramolecular cyclization) and the difficulties associated with processing and handling the resultant films.

2.6. Molybdenum

As noted in the introduction, metathesis catalysts that tolerate a broad array of organic functional groups have been (and still are) highly desired since the inception of the olefin metathesis reaction. While the well-defined W catalysts noted above were a strong testament of progress toward this goal, a significant advance was Schrock's introduction of well-defined Mo-based alkylidenes (15) [53]. Although structurally similar to W-based alkylidenes 11. these catalysts tolerated a much broader range of functionality including monomers containing ester, amide, imide, ketal, ether, cyano, trifluoromethyl. and primary halogen-containing functional groups. The increased functional group compliance also facilitated their synthesis and use when compared to their W analogues, since they exhibited a greater tolerance toward oxygen, water, and other impurities. These complexes were also



Fig. 16. Three routes to prepare polyacetylene using ROMP. (a) The Durham route. (b) ROMP of benzvalene followed by rearrangement. (c) ROMP of COT.

found to be more stable toward decomposition and other side reactions (see Fig. 17).

A representative sample of functionalized norbornene-based monomers that are amenable to living ROMP using **15a** is shown in Table 1 [54]. In general, the resultant polymers showed narrow polydispersities and good control over molecular weight was achieved by adjusting the initial monomer to catalyst ratio. It is particularly noteworthy that monomers with strong electron withdrawing groups (i.e. fluorinated moieties) and norbornene derivatives with functionalized endo substituents were amenable to living ROMP. Previously, these monomers were either reluctant to undergo poly-



Fig. 17. Structures of Mo-based imido alkylidenes.

Table 1 ROMP of various monomers using **15a**

merization or coordinated to the catalysts in a nonproductive manner.

One common feature that these catalysts shared with their W precursors is that their activity could be tuned through modification of the alkoxide ligand. In general, complex 15a does not readily react with acyclic olefins, limiting their ability to mediate secondary metathesis reactions when used in a ROMP. In contrast, their fluorinated derivatives 15b and 15c showed markedly increased activities and were found to rapidly isomerize 2-pentene and other acyclic olefins. The difference in activities of these catalysts in ROMP was demonstrated in a comparative study using various n-alkyl exo- and endo-norbornene dicarboximides [55]. As shown in Fig. 18, ROMP reactions catalyzed by 15a afforded polynorbornenes with lower polydispersities than analogous reactions catalyzed with 15c. The differences were ultimately attributed to the higher activity of the latter, but also to its relatively poor initiation characteristics. Thus, when used in ROMP applications it is important to monitor the polymerization to find timescales that optimize the rate of polymerization over rates of chain transfer reactions.

Functional group	Monomer structure	PDI	Functional group	Monomer structure	PDI
Ester	CO ₂ CH ₃ CO ₂ CH ₃	1.07	Imide		1.07
	CO ₂ CH ₃ CO ₂ CH ₃	1.04	Imide		1.05 (M/I = 50)
	CO ₂ CH ₃	1.12	Cyano	É C	1.07
Carbonate	OCOCH ₃ OCOCH ₃	1.11	Halo	CN CF ₃	1.05
		1.19			1.06
Ether	a of	1.07	Ether/Ester	CO ₂ CH ₃ CO ₂ CH ₃	1.17

Unless otherwise noted, [M/15a] = 100.



Fig. 18. Comparison of catalysts 15a vs. 15c in ROMP reactions.



Fig. 19. Rapid alkoxy ligand exchange leads to an equilibrium of Mo catalysts. Since each catalyst exerts a different control over the stereochemistry of the resultant polymer, this equilibrium can be used to tailor cis/trans ratios along the backbones of polyalkenamers.

Notably, the high functional group tolerances combined with the high activities of the Mo-based catalysts enabled the preparation of synthetic analogues to biological polymers through the ROMP of endo-5-norbornene-2,3-dicarboximides obtained from the methyl esters of amino acids [56]. Star polymers were also obtained [57].

Another advantage of the Mo systems is their ability to provide stereoregular polymers. While certain conventional catalysts were well known to produce highly substituted polymer chains with high stereoregularity, it was discovered that welldefined Mo alkylidenes could also exert control over polymer stereochemistry [58]. For example, Schrock, Feast, and Gibson found that polymers obtained from the living ROMP of 2,3-bis(trifluoromethyl)bicyclo[2.2.1]hepta-2,5-diene catalyzed by 15a were highly tactic with a >98% trans olefin geometry exhibited along the polymer backbone. Interestingly, when the same ROMP reaction was catalyzed with 15c, the resultant polymer was found to have >98% cis content (but was also highly tactic). Furthermore, they found that alkoxy ligand exchange was rapid on the timescale of the polymerization (see Fig. 19), enabling the synthesis of polymers with pre-determined amounts of cis/ trans contents by initiating the ROMP with varying mixtures of **15a** and **15c**. Notably, these ROMP reactions were living and provided materials with tunable molecular weights and low polydispersities. A kinetic-based mechanism that balances the rates of interconversion of cis and trans rotamers of the alkylidene moiety with the rate of polymerization has been proposed to describe the origin of the stereochemical control in these catalysts [59]. This mechanistic knowledge was later used to create Mobased catalysts based on C_2 -symmetric diolate ligands, ultimately providing highly isotactic polymers via an enantiomorphic site-control mechanism [60].

In addition to norbornene based architectures, Mo-based catalysts were found to polymerize a range of cyclic olefins with varying degrees of ringstrain and functionality [61]. Polycyclopentene with controllable molecular weights and narrow polydispersities (PDI < 1.1) was obtained using catalyst **15a** [62]. As with the W mediated ROMP reactions noted above, a strong donor ligand (e.g. trimethylphosphine) was required. However, the Mo catalyst mediated the ROMP reaction in a living fashion at room temperature whereas use of the W catalyst required low temperatures. This feature enabled



Fig. 20. Synthesis of crystalline/amorphous diblock copolymers via sequential ROMP of ethylidenenorbornene/cyclopentene followed by hydrogenation. Note that trimethylphosphine is necessary to achieve control over the ROMP of cyclopentene.



Fig. 21. Synthesis of poly(norbornene)-b-poly(styrene) block copolymers by combining ROMP with ATRP.

estimation of the equilibrium monomer concentration (at room temperature) for cyclopentene (1.3 M). Thus, performing the ROMP reactions at relatively high monomer concentrations (>2.8 M) and low catalyst loadings (initial monomer to catalyst up to 10000) enabled the synthesis of polycyclopentenes with molecular weights up to 67 800 Da with PDIs as low as 1.04. The living nature of this ROMP enabled the synthesis of welldefined diblock copolymers comprised of polycyclopentene and polyethylidenenorbornene which, after hydrogenation, afforded a new diblock copolymer with crystalline and amorphous regions (see Fig. 20).

While this sequential monomer addition method was found to be useful for preparing diblocks, both monomers must be amenable to the same polymerization method. If two (or more) desired monomers cannot be polymerized by the same polymerization mechanism, then multiple steps are required. For example, poly(styrene)-*b*-poly(norbornene) and poly(methyl acrylate)-*b*-poly(norbornene) diblock copolymers have been prepared by combining atom-transfer radical polymerization (ATRP), a metal-mediated method for controlling radical polymerizations [63], with ROMP [64]. Norbornene was polymerized using ROMP and capped with an agent that was subsequently used as an initiator for the ATRP of styrene or methyl acrylate (see Fig. 21).

The Mo-based catalysts have also been used to polymerize a variety of 3-substituted cyclobutenes [65]. For example, 3-methylcyclobutene and 3,3dimethylcyclobutene were independently polymerized using catalysts **15a–c**. After hydrogenation, these materials are effectively poly(ethylene-*alt*propylene) and poly(ethylene-*alt*-isobutylene) copolymers which are very difficult to obtain using other



Fig. 22. Living ROMP of 3,4-difunctionalized cyclobutenes followed by deprotection.



 $R = Ph \text{ or } CH_3O(CH_2)_2$

Fig. 23. Living ROMP of various 3,3-disubstituted cyclopropenes using various Mo based catalysts.

polymerization methods. Unfortunately, the high degree of ring-strain associated with this monomer prevented control over the ROMP and relatively polydisperse materials were obtained. As with the W catalysts, the rate of propagation is generally faster than the rate of initiation, leading to polydisperse materials. In contrast, the ROMP of 3.4-disubstituted cyclobutenes has been reported to be living and provides polymeric materials with well-defined structures [66]. For example, cis-cyclobutene-3,4-dicarboxylate and cis-3,4-bis(2-oxa-3phenylpropyl)cyclobutene were polymerized using 15a. Excellent control over the polymerization was observed and materials with very low polydispersities (PDI < 1.15) were obtained. However, in order to obtain living character, it was found essential to use catalyst 15a in these polymerizations as the more active derivatives (e.g. 15c) lead to extensive chain transfer and relative broad PDIs of the resultant materials. As shown in Fig. 22, these polymers were deprotected to provide a variety of high-strength adhesive materials.

Most recently, the living ROMP of cyclopropenes was reported using Mo catalysts [67]. As shown in Fig. 23, addition of a 3,3-disubstitutedcyclopropene to catalysts **15a–c** afforded the corresponding polycyclopropenamers in excellent yields (>94%) after quenching the ROMP with benzaldehyde. Polymers obtained from these ROMP reactions exhibited molecular weights of approximately 10,000 Da (determined by GPC calibrated with polystyrene standards) with extremely narrow polydispersities (PDIs < 1.05). ¹H NMR spectroscopy suggested that the geometry of the olefins along the polymer backbones was predominately trans. Considering the paucity of examples reported in the literature on the polymerization of cyclopropenes, this result should provide a method for studying the thermodynamics of a new class of cyclic olefin amenable to ROMP and may lead to new elastomeric materials. Notably, reaction of 3,3-disubstitutedcyclopropenes with W alkylidenes **11** did not afford polymer and instead resulted in the corresponding W allylidenes (W = CH-CH = CHR) [68].

2.7. Ruthenium

Like most late transition metals, Ru shows low oxophilicity, which makes it inherently stable toward many polar functional groups. However, Ru also readily forms bonds with carbon which opens opportunities for mediating olefin metathesis reactions. Despite these advantages, the popularity and extensive utility of ruthenium in olefin metathesis has risen only recently [69]. Early reports on the use of Ru stem from the 1960s when it was discovered that RuCl₃ salts in protic media facilitated the polymerization of various norbornene derivatives [24,70]. Over two decades later, the use of this metal was reinvestigated for preparing charged polymers via ROMP [71]. During these studies, it was discovered that while the hydrates of $RuCl_3$ or Ru(p-toluenesulfonate)₂ were successful in mediating the non-living ROMP of various oxanorbornenes in aqueous or protic media, long initiation periods were required when the reactions were performed in organic solvents or when anhydrous conditions were employed [72]. Regardless, these catalysts were found to mediate the ROMP of functionalized norbornenes, 7-oxanorbornenes, and norbornadienes. More importantly, the ability to conduct these polymerizations in aqueous or protic media exemplified their extraordinary tolerance toward polar functionality. Attention soon shifted toward isolating a welldefined Ru alkylidene, since it was assumed that Ru based ROMP reactions proceeded by the same mechanism as for early metals [73]. For example, it was found that including various acyclic olefins during ROMP reactions resulted in polymeric materials with end-groups containing functional groups from the added olefins [74]. Additional evidence stemmed from detailed NMR analyses, indicating that the microstructure of the polymers produced from Ru catalysts were similar to those produced from well-defined metal alkylidenes (ruling out radical, ionic, and other types of chain addition polymerizations processes).

The first well-defined, single-component Ru complex that showed activity in ROMP was $(PPh_3)_2Cl_2Ru = CH - CH = CPh_2$ (16) [75]. The synthesis of this complex was facilitated by adopting synthetic methodology used to prepare some of the W-based alkylidene complexes mentioned above. Specifically, treatment of $(PPh_3)_3RuCl_2$ or (PPh₃)₄RuCl₂ with 3,3-diphenylcyclopropene afforded **16** in nearly quantitative yields. The complex is stable in degassed and dry organic solvents (benzene, dichloromethane, etc.) for extended periods of time (>weeks). It is stable indefinitely in the solid state. The complex also does not show appreciable decomposition after exposure to water, various alcohols, or ethers and does not react with aldehvdes and ketones in a Wittig-type fashion. This well-defined Ru complex was found to mediate the ROMP of norbornene in a living fashion with outstanding activity. For example, as shown in Fig. 24, addition of norbornene to 16 resulted in a polymer chain with a propagating alkylidene species observable by ¹H NMR spectroscopy $(\delta = 17.79 \text{ ppm})$. However, upon the addition of

2.3-dideuterionorbornene, the signal disappeared. Introduction of additional (2,3-diprotio-) norbornene restored the signal and effectively produced a triblock copolymer of the two monomers. The polymerizations were terminated through the addition of ethyl vinyl ether which replaced the Ru alkylidenes on the termini of the polymer chains with a methylidene and formed a metathesis inactive Fischer carbene complex ([Ru] = CHOR) [76]. Although the rate of initiation was found to be slower than the rate of propagation, quantitative initiation was accomplished through the addition of excess monomer. Importantly, secondary metathesis reactions were minimal. Catalyst 16 was also found to mediate the living ROMP of bicyclo[3.2.0]heptane and trans-cyclooctene, and block copolymers of these monomers with norbornene were successfully prepared [77].

While Ru catalyst 16 showed an impressive tolerance to a broad array of functionality and was capable of mediating living ROMP reactions of norbornene and cyclobutene derivatives, the catalyst did not show appreciable activity toward other olefins. In accord with the studies on other catalyst



Fig. 25. Structures of various Ru vinylidene complexes and conversion to a more active derivative via phosphine exchange.



Fig. 24. Sequential living ROMP of norbornadiene and 2,3-dideuterionorbornene using a well-defined Ru alkylidene effectively affords a triblock copolymer. Note that the ROMP is quenched with ethyl vinyl ether which installs a methylidene unit on the terminus of a polymer chain and forms a Fischer-type carbene ([M] = CHOR) with very low metathesis aptitude.

systems mentioned above, attention soon shifted toward optimizing the ligand environment of the Ru center. The most convenient method to optimize activity was to vary the nature of the phosphine ligand. Ultimately, it was discovered that the use of bulky and electron rich phosphines (e.g. PCy₃) lead to highly active catalysts. This trend contrasts the Schrock catalyst in which higher activities were found with electron withdrawing ligands. Synthetically, this phosphine exchange reaction was relatively simple to perform and was accomplished by adding an excess of PCy₃ (or $P(iPr)_3$) to 16 [78] (see Fig. 25). The resultant complexes $(PPCy_3)_2Cl_2$ - $Ru = CH - CH = CPh_2$ (17) were found to be more stable and exhibit a broader range of tolerance toward functionality than their precursors. For example, in addition to water and alcohols, these complexes were found to be stable toward organic acids (acetic acid) as well as solutions of strong

inorganic acids (diethyl ether solutions of HCl). While these complexes were found to polymerize norbornene, they did not show significant control over the reaction. Their highly active nature exasperated the differential between the rate of initiation versus the rate of propagation. In addition, there was some evidence that chain transfer reactions were occurring [79]. Thus, polynorbornenes obtained from the ROMP of norbornene using catalyst 17 generally exhibited high molecular weights $(M_n > 10^5 \text{ Da})$ with broad polydispersities (PDI > 2). However, these catalysts opened new opportunities in the living ROMP of functionalized monomers that were less reactive than norbornene. For example, as shown in Fig. 26, block copolymers of monomers containing Si functionalities were prepared using these Ru catalysts [80].

Large quantities of metathesis-active Ru alkylidenes were soon available once an alternative



Fig. 26. Synthesis of block copolymers using Ru alkylidenes.



Fig. 27. Synthesis of well-defined Ru benzylidene complexes.



Fig. 28. Synthesis of telechelic polymers using an acetoxy-functionalized Ru initiator.

synthesis involving the treatment of $(PPh_3)_3RuCl_2$ with diazobenzylidene was developed (see Fig. 27). The resulting complex **18** can be readily converted into its more active derivative **19** via phosphine exchange and also converted to other alkylidene catalysts by simply adding the corresponding terminal olefin, which was found to have important influences over initation efficiencies in ROMP reactions [81]. (The parent benzylidene complex appears to have the most favorable initiation kinetics in ROMP reactions.)

The ability of these Ru catalysts to react with terminal olefins also provided a convenient method for functionalizing the end-groups of polymer chains. For example, as shown in Fig. 28, Gibson prepared a series of end-functionalized polymers using Ru complex 20 (prepared by reacting 19 with allyl acetate). This ROMP initiator effectively placed an acetoxy group on one terminus of the polynorbornene chain and an active Ru alkylidene at the other end. Upon the conclusion of the polymerization (i.e. after all the monomer was consumed), 1,4-diacetoxy-2-butene was added, effectively installing an acetoxy group on the growing end of the polymer chain and re-forming the functionalized initiator. Ultimately, this produced a polymer with acetoxy groups on both ends of the polymer chains (a so-called "telechelic polymer") [82].

Complex **19** was also found to polymerize a wide variety of functionalized norbornenes and cyclobutenes, many of which contained pendant alcohol, amino, ester, amido, and keto functional groups, in a living manner and in protic media [83]. In addition to exhibiting a high tolerance for most functional groups, **19** was also found to be relatively thermally stable with a half-life of over a week at 55 °C [84].

The ability to prepare designer Ru catalysts was used to address a fundamental problem in the synthesis of block copolymers composed of segments that cannot be prepared by the same polymerization mechanism. While a variety of coupling or chain transfer strategies have been put forth, from a practical standpoint it would be ideal to use a single component catalyst to mediate multiple mechanistically distinct reactions to form block copolymers directly. As shown in Fig. 29, this was effectively accomplished through the synthesis of a difunctional initiator that effectively mediated the ROMP of cyclooctadiene and the Ru-mediated ATRP of methyl methacrylate to form a variety of poly(butadiene)-*b*-poly(methyl methacrylate) block copolymers in a single step [85].

As noted above, the more active Ru alkylidenes possessing trialkylphosphine groups were unable to polymerize norbornene and many of its derivatives in a highly-controlled manner due to poor initiation characteristics and (slow) secondary metathesis reactions. One solution to this problem was reported by Gibson who capitalized on the ability to readily exchange the ligands on these catalysts and produced a catalyst with increased initiation characteristics [86]. However, as a direct result of extensive mechanistic analyses, it was determined that the rate of phosphine exchange was significantly faster than the rates of reactions with olefins in the bisphosphine Ru alkylidene complexes. In addition, the triphenylphosphine derivatives of these catalysts exhibit elevated rates of initiation. Collectively, this suggested an alternative solution to the problem of slow initiation. It was envisioned that addition of relatively labile phosphines such as PPh₃ to complexes 19 during a ROMP would enhance the initiation efficiency of these complexes. Since phosphine exchange is fast, complex 21 should form in situ and exhibit better initiation



Fig. 30. In situ synthesis of mixed phosphine Ru alkylidenes (21) that show high initiation kinetics in ROMP reactions.



Fig. 29. Synthesis of block copolymers composed of two mechanistically distinct segments through a tandem living ROMP—living ATRP reaction using a single component catalyst.

characteristics. In essence, phosphine would compete with monomer for the propagating species and effectively lower the rate of propagation. Indeed, inclusion of triphenylphosphine (1-5 equivalents) in the ROMP of various norbornene derivatives reduced the PDIs from 1.25 to as low as 1.04 [87] (see Fig. 30).

Simultaneous to studies involving the use of these catalysts in various ROMP reactions, tremendous effort was directed toward understanding the mechanism of these Ru catalysts [88]. It was determined that the mechanism to the olefin metathesis reaction was dissociative in nature. Thus, a phosphine ligand must separate from the catalyst before olefin coordination (and subsequent reaction) may occur. Stabilization of these coordinately unsaturated intermediates was also necessary to prevent premature catalyst decomposition. N-heterocyclic carbenes (NHCs) were known to be strong σ -donors yet less labile than phosphines [89]. They are less likely to dissociate from the catalyst but also provide increased electron density to stabilize intermediates. Ultimately, a mixed-ligand system (22) was designed and synthesized through a phosphine exchange type reaction [90] (see Fig. 31).

Complex 22 was shown to possess exceptional activities in a large number of ROMP reactions [91]. For example, 22 was found to polymerize ciscyclooctadiene at higher rates than Schrock's Mobased catalysts and could also ROMP 1,5-dimethylcyclooctadiene as well as 1,3,5,7-cyclooctatetraene [92]. However, this catalyst generally provides polymers with uncontrollable molecular weights and broad polydispersities. This has been attributed to relatively slow rates of initiation coupled with competing secondary chain transfer reactions. By tuning the ligand environment, a new class of Ru-based metathesis catalysts (23) containing strongly ligating NHCs with weakly coordinating pyridines was developed (see Fig. 32) [93]. These catalysts displayed not only extremely high activities in ROMP but also exhibited fast initiation kinetics as a result of the labile nature of the pyridine ligands. As a result, living ROMP reactions were achieved with Ru catalysts ligated to N-heterocyclic carbenes.

As summarized in Table 2, a wide range of monomers have been polymerized using catalyst 23. Notably the PDIs of the resultant polymers were extremely low. It is also notable that a

Table 2	2
---------	---

ROMP of a variety of cyclic olefins mediated by catalyst 23

Monomer	$M_{\rm n}~({ m GPC})$	$M_{\rm n}$ (theo)	PDI
Å	24500	38300	1.06
OTBS OTBS exo	29100	18000	1.05
Ő OBn	30400	33500	1.05
OBn OBn	22900	17800	1.08
endo N O	28700	19900	1.10
ÖBz	9000	9500	1.09

In all cases, the initial monomer to catalyst ratio was 100:1. The theoretical molecular weights assume quantitative conversion. The last example (norbornene) was performed at -20 °C.







Fig. 31. Synthesis of well-defined a Ru alkylidene ligated to a N-heterocyclic carbene.

polynorbornene was prepared with a PDI as low as 1.06. However, it was important that in this case the ROMP was conducted at -20 °C to suppress secondary chain-transfer reactions. As a testament to the living nature of these polymerizations, a variety of diblock copolymers were also prepared using this catalyst.

The ability to readily replace phosphines on the catalysts also led to the development of watersoluble Ru-based catalysts for aqueous ROMP applications. By incorporating charged phosphines, water soluble Ru complexes 24 and 25 were obtained (see Fig. 33) [94]. While both of these catalysts are metathesis active, they do not mediate living ROMP reactions because the propagating species are unstable and rapidly decompose. However, it was later determined that decomposition was enhanced in the presence of base which prompted the notion that the catalyst instability was due to the presence of a small amount of hydroxide in solution. This limitation was readily resolved by adding a strong Brønsted acid (e.g. HCl) during the ROMP reaction. Interestingly, the acid not only sequesters any hydroxide that may be present in solution, but it has the added effect of



Fig. 33. Water soluble, well-defined Ru alkylidenes that show high metathesis activity in aqueous media.

promoting initiation through phosphine protonation. Ultimately, this led to living aqueous ROMP reactions. In particular, as shown in Fig. 34, the living ROMP of water soluble norbornene derivatives afforded homopolymers with PDIs of <1.24 as well as block copolymers of these two monomers. Water soluble quenching agents such as triethyleneglycol methyl vinyl ether were found to effectively terminate these polymerizations. More recently, water soluble catalysts bearing NHC ligands have been prepared and were found to show extremely high activities in aqueous ROMP reactions [95].

3. Challenges and perspectives for the future

The ability to exert exquisite control over macromolecular structure and function remains a central aim in polymer chemistry. As noted in the introduction, the advent of living polymerizations has resulted in a significant step toward this goal by providing a method to tune the size and polydispersity of many types of macromolecular materials. However, advancement of the field will continually require the development of new synthetic methodologies.

The introduction of well-defined catalysts that mediate living ROMP has pushed the frontier of living polymerization. As a result of these catalysts, an impressively broad range of monomers, many of which are densely functionalized, may now be polymerized to nearly any shape or size. Another advantage of living ROMP reactions is an ability to prepare a wide range of copolymeric materials as well as materials with advanced topologies. Indeed, many of these materials have found utility in biological and electronic applications. However, living ROMP is not a solved problem. Several remaining challenges are listed below.



Fig. 34. Examples of living ROMP reactions that were conducted in aqueous media.

Ti / Ta	w	Мо	Ru	
acids	acids	acids	olefins	
alcohols	alcohols	alcohols	acids	ivity
aldehydes	aldehydes	aldehydes	alcohols	eact
ketones	ketones	olefins	aldehydes	sing I
esters/amides	olefins	ketones	ketones	ncrea
olefins	esters/amides	esters/amides	esters/amides	·=

Fig. 35. Functional group tolerance of various olefin metathesis catalysts based on early vs. late transition metals.



Fig. 36. Synthesis of Ru difluoromethylidenes (26) via reaction of 22 with 1,1-difluoroethene. Note that complex 26 was found to be active in initiating the ROMP of 1,5-cyclooctadiene.

3.1. Development of new catalysts

Nearly every advance in ROMP can be traced to an advance in catalysis. As such, the future of living ROMP is critically dependent on the development of new catalysts which includes finding new transition metals and new ligands. It has been shown that late transition metals are inherently more stable toward polar functional groups (for a summary, see Fig. 35) and, through proper ligand choice, can often exhibit activity in ROMP reactions comparable to their predecessors based on early transition metals. This trend suggests that future generations should look toward other late transition metals such as Fe or Re. However, this will be challenging as Fe alkylidenes generally prefer to cyclopropanate olefins and there are only a handful of examples demonstrating that Re catalyzes metathetical reactions [96]. For Ru-based catalysts, it is clear that highly donating ligands enhance activity. Efforts should continue to focus on finding new ligands that exceed the electron donating abilities of NHCs. Ultimately, the ideal catalyst for living ROMP reactions will react with cyclic olefins exclusive to all other types of functionality. This will be a challenging task, however, as often high activity equates to increased chances for secondary metathesis reactions, which limits their potential in living ROMP reactions.

3.2. Polymerization of "new" and "old" monomers

The field of living ROMP will also be dependent on an ability to polymerize new monomers. For example, one area that has been underdeveloped is the ROMP of highly halogenated cyclic olefins. It has been shown that Ru catalysts react with 1, 1-difluoroethylene to afford Ru difluoromethylidene complex 26. This complex was subsequently found to be active in initiating the ROMP of 1, 5-cyclooctadiene (see Fig. 36) [97]. With the right ligand environment (or transition metal), ROMP may one day be used to polymerize highly halogenated olefins such as perfluorocyclobutene. Another challenging area is the polymerization of tri- and tetrasubstituted cyclic olefins. The synthesis of tetrasubstituted olefins has recently experienced considerable growth due to advances in ring-closing and cross metathesis reactions. This results may offer clues for exploring the ROMP of substituted cyclic olefins.



Fig. 37. Synthesis of cyclic polymers using ROMP. Addition of cis-cyclooctene to **27** resulted in the formation propagating species where both ends of the polymer chains are connected to the same metal center. Subsequent intramolecular chain transfer provides cyclic polymer and regenerates **27**.

Another means to push the frontier of living ROMP is to develop new catalysts to obtain polymeric materials with interesting topological features from "old" monomers. The Ru catalysts discussed above are particularly suited for such application as both the alkylidene and the phosphine/NHC ligands can be extensively modified. This concept was demonstrated in the synthesis of water soluble catalysts through the incorporation of water soluble phosphine ligands which enabled living ROMP in aqueous media. More recently, this concept was used to design a catalyst that provided cyclic polymers [98]. As shown in Fig. 37, the addition of cis-cyclooctene to complex 27 affords a propagating species where both ends of the polymer chains remain attached to the metal center. At some point later in time, an intramolecular cyclization reaction occurs and effectively provides a cyclic polymer. This approach effectively eliminates the need for linear polymeric precursors and high dilution which were drawbacks of traditional strategies for preparing these materials.

4. Conclusion

Fifty years ago, Szwarc introduced the concept of a "living" polymerization. This technique changed the way polymer chemists think about preparing well-defined macromolecular materials and has resulted in numerous scientific advances, many of which can be found in contemporary society. Coincidentally, the olefin metathesis reaction was also introduced about fifty years ago. In some ways, this reaction also changed the way polymer chemists think about preparing macromolecular materials.

The original metathesis catalysts were ill-defined mixtures consisting of several metals, additives, and specialized conditions. As the direct result of advances in the field of catalysis, a series of welldefined catalysts based on a range of metals including titanium, tantalum, tungsten, molybdenum, and ruthenium have been prepared. Through subsequent optimization, living ROMP catalysts based on each of these metals have been synthesized. These catalysts have found utilities in numerous applications, most notably in the synthesis of macromolecular materials with interesting biological, electronic, and mechanical properties.

Finally, it is important to note that a "universal" catalyst does not exist and each of the aforementioned catalysts possesses their own inherent advantages and disadvantages. Considering the broad range of catalysts available, it should be possible to find one that meets a specific need or application. If not, the synthetic diversity available to each of these catalysts should facilitate the necessary modifications.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank the researchers who have made significant contributions to living ROMP and related areas. In addition, the support of the NSF and ONR of the author's research in the area is particularly appreciated.

References

- [1] (a) Calderon N. Ring-opening polymerization of cycloolefins. J Macromol Sci Rev Macromol Chem 1972;7:105–59;
 - (b) Dall'Asta G. Preparation and properties of polyalkenamers. Rubber Chem Technol 1974;47:511–96;
 - (c) Novak B M, Risse W, Grubbs RH. The development of well-defined catalysts for ring-opening olefin metathesis polymerization (ROMP). Adv Polym Sci 1992;102: 47–71;
 - (d) Ivin KJ, Mol JC. Olefin metathesis and metathesis polymerization. San Diego: Academic Press; 1997;
 - (e) Buchmeiser MR. Homogenous metathesis polymerization by well-defined group VI and group VIII transitionmetal alkylidenes: fundamentals and applications in the preparation of advanced materials. Chem Rev 2000;100: 1565–604;
 - (f) Frenzel U, Nuyken O. Ruthenium-based metathesis initiators: development and use in ring-opening metathesis polymerization. J Polym Sci Part A: Polym Chem 2002;40:2895–916;
 - (g) Grubbs RH. Handbook of metathesis, vol. 3. Weinheim: Wiley-VCH; 2003.
- [2] (a) Chauvin Y. Olefin metathesis: the early days (Nobel lecture). Angew Chem Int Ed 2006;45:3740–7;
 - (b) Schrock RR. Multiple metal–carbon bonds for catalytic metathesis reactions (Nobel lecture). Angew Chem Int Ed 2006;45:3748–59;
 - (c) Grubbs RH. Olefin-metathesis catalysts for the preparation of molecules and materials (Nobel lecture). Angew Chem Int Ed 2006;45:3760–5.
- [3] (a) Wagener KB, Boncella JM, Nel JG. Acyclic diene metathesis (ADMET) polymerization. Macromolecules 1991;24:2649–57;
 - (b) Lehman SE, Wagener KB. ADMET polymerization. In: Grubbs RH, editor. Handbook of metathesis. New York: Wiley-VCH; 2003. p. 283–353;
 - (c) Baughman TW, Wagener KB. Recent advances in ADMET polymerization. In: Buchmeiser M, editor. Advances in polymer science. Darmstadt: Springer; 2005. p. 1–42.
- [4] (a) Calderon N. Olefin metathesis reaction. Acc Chem Res 1972;5:127–32;
 - (b) Calderon N, Ofstead EA, Judy WA. Mechanistic aspects of olefin metathesis. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 1976;15: 401–9.
- [5] Hérisson JL, Chauvin Y. Catalyse de transformation des oléfines par les complexes du tungstène. II. Télomérisation des oléfines cycliques en présence d'oléfines acycliques. Makromol Chem 1971;141:161–76.

- [6] For most Ru mediated polymerizations this reagent is ethyl vinyl ether, which provides a [Ru] = CHOEt type complex and a methylidene end-functionalized polymer; For Mo mediated polymerizations, this reagent is benzaldehyde which provides a [Mo] = O type complex and a benzylidene end-capped polymer.
- [7] Benson SW, Cruickshank FR, Golden DM, Haugen GR, O'Neal HE, Rodgers AS, et al. Additivity rules for the estimation of thermochemical properties. Chem Rev 1969;69:279–324.
- [8] Odian G. Principles of polymerization, 4th ed. Hoboken: Wiley; 2004.
- [9] (a) Jacobson H, Stockmayer WH. Intramolecular reaction in polycondensations. I. The theory of linear systems. J Chem Phys 1950;18:1600–6;
 - (b) Benedicto AD, Claverie JP, Grubbs RH. Molecular weight distribution of living polymerization involving chain-transfer agents: computational results, analytical solutions, and experimental investigations using ringopening metathesis polymerization. Macromolecules 1995;28:500–11;
 - (c) Chen Z-R, Claverie JP, Grubbs RH, Kornfield JA. Modeling ring-chain equilibria in ring-opening polymerization of cycloolefins. Macromolecules 1995;28: 2147–54.
- [10] (a) Wideman LG. Oxidation of large-ring organoboranes with chromic acid. Synthesis of macrocyclic musk compounds. J Org Chem 1968;33:4541–3;
 - (b) Ofstead EA. Macrocyclic polybutenamers from 1,5cyclooctadiene. Macromol Synth 1977;6:69–75;
 - (c) Warwel S, Kätker H. Eine einfache synthese makrocyclischer kohlenwasserstoffe durch metathese von cycloolefinen. Synthesis 1987:935–7;
 - (d) Anhaus JT, Gibson VC, Clegg W, Collingwood SP. Silicon-containing macrocycles and polymers via metathesis: X-ray crystal structures of cis,cis- and trans, trans-1,1,6,6-tetraphenyl-1,6-disilacyclodeca-3,8-diene. Organometallics 1993;12:1780–9;
 - (e) Kress J. Cyclization of living polyalkenamers via intramolecular secondary metathesis. Dimerization of cycloheptene into cyclotetradeca-1,8-diene initiated by well-defined tungsten-carbene catalysts. J Mol Catal A Chem 1995;102:7–21.
- [11] Szwarc M. 'Living' polymers. Nature 1956;178:1168-9.
- [12] Darling TR, Davis TP, Fryd M, Gridnec AA, Haddleton DM, Ittel SD, et al. Living polymerization: rationale for uniform terminology. J Polym Sci A: Polym Chem 2000;38:1706–8.
- [13] Gold LJ. Statistics of polymer molecular size distribution for an invariant number of propagating chains. J Chem Phys 1958;28:91–9.
- [14] (a) Flory PJ. Molecular size distribution in ethylene oxide polymers. J Am Chem Soc 1940;62:1561–5
 - (b) For a rigorous classification of various types of living polymerizations, see: Matyjaszewski K. Ranking living systems. Macromolecules 1993;26:1787–8.
- [15] Webster OW. Living polymerization methods. Science 1991;251:887–93.
- [16] (a) Breslow DS. Metathesis polymerization. Prog Polym Sci 1993;18:1141–95;
 - (b) Ivin KJ. Some recent applications of olefin metathesis in organic synthesis: a review. J Mol Catal A 1998;133:1–16;

- (c) Randall ML, Snapper ML. Selective olefin metatheses new tools for the organic chemist: a review. J Mol Catal A 1998;133:29–40;
- (d) Armstrong SK. Ring closing diene metathesis in organic synthesis. J Chem Soc Perkin Trans 1998;1: 371–88;
- (e) Naota T, Takaya H, Murahashi S-I. Ruthenium-catalyzed reactions for organic synthesis. Chem Rev 1998;98: 2599–660;
- (f) Noels AF, Demonceau A. From olefin cyclopropanation to olefin metathesis through catalyst engineering: recent applications of olefin metathesis to fine organic synthesis and to polymer chemistry. J Phys Org Chem 1998;11: 602–9;
- (g) Dörwald FZ. Metal carbenes in organic synthesis. Weinheim: Wiley-VCH; 1999;
- (h) Schrock RR. Olefin metathesis by molybdenum imido alkylidene catalysts. Tetrahedron 1999;55:8141–53;
- Wright DL. Application of olefin metathesis to organic synthesis. Curr Org Chem 1999;3:211–40;
- Choi SK, Gal YS, Jin SH, Kim HK. Poly(1,6-heptadiyne)based materials by metathesis polymerization. Chem Rev 2000;100:1645–82;
- (k) Grubbs RH. Handbook of metathesis, vol. 2. Weinheim: Wiley-VCH; 2003.
- [17] Ziegler K, Holzkamp E, Breil H, Martin H. Das mülheimer normaldruck-polyäthylen-verfahren. Angew Chem 1955;67:541–7.
- [18] (a) Natta G, Pino P, Corrdini P, Danusso F, Mantica E, Mazzanto G, et al. Crystalling high polymers of α-olefins. J Am Chem Soc 1955;77:1708–10;
 - (b) Natta G. Stereospezifische katalysen und isotaktische polymere. Angew Chem 1956;68:393–403;
 - (c) Ziegler K. Folgen und Werdegang einer Erfindung Nobel-Vortrag am 12. Angew Chem 1963;76: 545–53;
 - (d) Natta G. Von der stereospezifischen polymerisation zur asymmetrischen autokatalytischen Synthese von makromolekülen Nobel-Vortrag am 12. Angew Chem 1963;76: 553–66;
 - (e) Sinn H, Kaminsky W. Ziegler–Natta catalysis. Adv Organomet Chem 1980;18:99–149;
 - (f) Günther W. Fifty years of Ziegler catalysts: consequences and development of an invention. Angew Chem Int Ed 2003;42:5000–8.
- [19] Banks RL, Bailey GC. Olefin disproprotionation. A new catalytic process. Ind Eng Chem Prod Res Dev 1964;3: 170–3.
- [20] (a) Pariya C, Jayaprakash KN, Sarkar A. Alkene metathesis: new developments in catalyst design and application. Coord Chem Rev 1998;168:1–48;
 - (b) Grubbs RH. Handbook of metathesis, vol. 1. Weinheim: Wiley-VCH; 2003.
- [21] (a) Truett WL, Johnson DR, Robinson IM, Montague BA. Polynorbornene by coördination polymerization. J Am Chem Soc 1960;82:2337–40;
 - (b) Calderon N, Ofstead EA, Ward JP, Judy WA, Scott KW. Olefin metathesis. I. Acyclic vinylenic hydrocarbons. J Am Chem Soc 1968;90:4133–40;
 - (c) Eleuterio HS. Olefin metathesis: chance favors those minds that are best prepared. J Mol Catal 1991;65:55–61.

- [22] (a) Calderon N, Chen HY, Scott KW. Olefin metathesis a novel reaction for skeletal transformations of unsaturated hydrocarbons. Tetrahedron Lett 1967;8: 3327–9;
 - (b) Calderon N, Ofstead EA, Ward JP, Judy WA, Scott KW. Olefin metathesis. I. Acyclic vinylenic hydrocarbons. J Am Chem Soc 1968;90:4133–40;
 - (c) Calderon N, Ofstead EA, Judy WA. Mechanistic aspects of olefin metathesis. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 1976;15:401–9.
- [23] Calderon N, Ofstead EA, Judy WA. Ring-opening polymerization of unsaturated alicyclic compounds. J Poly Sci Poly Chem 1967;5:2209–17.
- [24] (a) Dall'Asta G, Mazzanti G, Natta G, Porri L. Anioniccoordinated polymerization of cyclobutene. Makromol Chem 1962;56:224–7;
 - (b) Natta G, Dall'Asta G, Mazzanti G, Motroni G. Stereospecific polymerizations of cyclobutene. Makromol Chem 1963;49:163–79;
 - (c) Natta G, Dall'Asta G, Mazzanti G. Stereospecific homopolymerization of cyclopentene. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 1964;3:723–9;
 - (d) Michelotti FW, Keaveney WP. Coordinated polymerization of the bicyclo[2.2.1]hept-2-ene ring system (norbornene) in polar media. J Polym Sci 1965;A3: 895–905;
 - (e) Rinehart RE, Smith HP. The emulsion polymerization of the norbornene ring system catalyzed by nobel metal compounds. Polym Lett 1965;3:1049–52;
 - (f) Kroll WR, Doyle G. Carbene complexes of the group VI metals as olefin disproportionation catalysts. J Chem Soc Chem Commun 1971:839;
 - (g) Pampus G, Lehnert G. Cis-trans rearrangement of a polypentenamer. Makromol Chem 1974;175: 2605–16.
- [25] (a) Ivin KJ, Laverty DT, Rooney JJ. The carbon-13 NMR spectra of poly(1-pentenylene) and poly(1,3-cyclopentylenevinylene). Makromol Chem 1977;178:1545–60;
 - (b) Feast WJ, Wilson B. Ring-opening polymerization of fluorine substituted bicyclo[2,2,1]hept-2-enes and -hepta-2,5-dienes. Polymer 1979;20:1182–3;
 - (c) Ivin KJ, Lapienis G, Rooney JJ. Formation of ringopening syndiotactic and atactic polynorbornenes using metathesis catalysts; evidence for retention and loss of configuration of the intermediate metallocarbene. J Chem Soc Chem Commun 1979:1068–70;
 - (d) Feast WJ, Wilson B. Metathesis polymerization of fluorinated bicyclo[2.2.1]hept-2-enes and bicyclo[2.2.1]hepta-2,5-dienes. J Mol Catal 1980;8:277–96;
 - (e) Thoi HH, Ivin KJ, Rooney JJ. Carbon-13 NMR spectra of polymers made by ring-opening polymerization of optically active and racemic 5,5-dimethylbicyclo[2.2.1]hept-2-ene using metathesis catalysts. Makromol Chem 1982;183:1629–46;
 - (f) Hamilton GJ, Ivin KJ, Rooney JJ, Waring LCJ. Alternating copolymerization of enantiomers of 1-methylbicyclo[2.2.1]hept-2-ene by a metathesis catalyst. J Chem Soc Chem Commun 1983:159–61;
 - (g) Arisol A, Blackmore PM, Edwards JH, Feast WJ, Wilson B. Stereoregular fluoropolymers: 1. The ringopening polymerization of 2,3-bis(trifluoromethyl)bicyclo[2.2.1]hepta-2,5-diene. Polymer 1986;27:1281–8;

- (h) Feast WJ, Shahada LAH. Stereoregular fluoropolymers: 2. The ring-opening polymerization of some polyfluoroaryl polycyclic alkenes. Polymer 1986;27: 1289–95;
- Blackmore PM, Feast WJ. Stereoregular fluoropolymers: 3. The ring-opening polymerization of endo- and exo-5-trifluoromethylbicyclo[2.2.1]hept-2-ene. Polymer 1986;27:1296–303;
- (j) Blackmore PM, Feast WJ. The synthesis of stereoregular fluoropolymers via ring-opening metathesis polymerization of fluorinated bicyclo[2.2.1]heptenes and -heptadienes: a review of possibilities and progress. J Mol Catal 1986;36:145–52.
- [26] (a) Fischer EO, Maasböl A. Zur frage eines wolframcarbonyl-carben-komplexes. Angew Chem 1964;76:645;
 - (b) Fischer EO, Maasböl A. On the existence of a tungsten carbonyl carbene complex. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 1964;3:580–1;
 - (c) Casey CP, Burkhardt TJ. (Diphenylcarbene)pentacarbonyltungsten(0). J Am Chem Soc 1973;95:5833–4;
 - (d) Casey CP, Burkhardt TJ. Reactions of (diphenylcarbene)pentacarbonyltungsten(0) with alkenes. Role of metal-carbene complexes in cyclopropanation and olefin metathesis reactions. J Am Chem Soc 1974;96:7808–9;
 - (e) Casey CP, Tuinstra HE, Saeman MC. Reactions of (CO)₅WC(Tol)₂ with alkenes. A model for structural selectivity in the olefin metathesis reaction. J Am Chem Soc 1976;98:608–9.
- [27] (a) Katz TJ, Lee SJ, Acton N. Stereospecific polymerization of cycloalkenes induced by a metal–carbene. Tetrahedron Lett 1976;47:4247–50;
 - (b) Katz TJ, Acton N. Metatheses induced by (phenylmethoxycarbene)pentacarbonyltungsten. Tetrahedron Lett 1976;47:4251–4.
- [28] (a) Tebbe FN, Parshall GW, Reddy GS. Olefin homologation with titanium methylene compounds. J Am Chem Soc 1978;100:3611–3;
 - (b) Tebbe FN, Parshall GW, Ovenall DW. Titaniumcatalyzed olefin metathesis. J Am Chem Soc 1979;101:5074–5;
 - (c) Klabunde U, Tebbe FN, Parshall GW, Harlow RL. Methylene exchange reactions catalyzed by alkylidene derivatives of titanium and phosphorus. J Mol Catal 1980;8:37–51.
- [29] Howard TR, Lee JB, Grubbs RH. Titanium metallacarbene-metallacyclobutane reactions: stepwise metathesis. J Am Chem Soc 1980;102:6876–8.
- [30] Grubbs RH, Tumas W. Polymer synthesis and organotransition metal chemistry. Science 1989;243:907–15.
- [31] Staus DA, Grubbs RH. Titanacyclobutanes: substitution pattern and stability. Organometallics 1982;1:1658–61.
- [32] (a) Kress J, Osborn JA, Greene RME, Ivin KJ, Rooney JJ. The detection of 'living' propagating tungsten–carbene complexes in the ring-opening polymerizations of bicycloalkenes. J Chem Soc Chem Commun 1985:874–6;
 - (b) Cannizzo LF, Grubbs RH. Block copolymers containing monodisperse segments produced by ring-opening metathesis of cyclic olefins. Macromolecules 1988;21: 1961–7.
- [33] Riegler S, Slugovc C, Trimmel G, Stelzer F. Block copolymers via ROMP—awakening the sleeping beauty. Macromol Symp 2004;217:231–46.

- [34] (a) Risse W, Wheeler D R, Cannizzo LF, Grubbs RH. Di- and tetrafunctional initiators for the living ringopening olefin metathesis polymerization of strained cyclic olefins. Macromolecules 1989;22:3205–10;
 - (b) Risse W, Grubbs RH. Block and graft copolymers by living ring-opening olefin metathesis polymerization. J Mol Catal 1991;65:211–7.
- [35] (a) Schrock RR, Fellmann JD. Multiple metal-carbon bonds. 8. A preparation, characterization, and mechanism of formation of the tantalum and niobium neopentylidene complexes, M(CH₂CMe₃)₃(CHCMe₃). J Am Chem Soc 1978;100:3359–70;
 - (b) Rupprecht GA, Messerle LW, Fellmann JD, Schrock RR. Multiple metal–carbon bonds. 15. Octahedral alkylidene complexes of niobium and tantalum by ligand-promoted. Alpha abstraction. J Am Chem Soc 1980;102:6236–44;
 - (c) Wallace KC, Dewan JC, Schrock RR. Multiple metalcarbon bonds. 44. Isolation and characterization of the first simple tantalacyclobutane complexes. Organometallics 1986;5:2162–4.
- [36] Wallace KC, Schrock RR. Ring-opening polymerization of norbornene by a tantalum catalyst: a living polymerization. Macromolecules 1987;20:448–50.
- [37] Wallace KC, Liu AH, Dewan JC, Schrock RR. Preparation and reactions of tantalum alkylidene complexes containing bulky phenoxide or thiolate ligands. Controlling ring-opening metathesis polymerization activity and mechanism through choice of anionic ligand. J Am Chem Soc 1988;110:4964–77.
- [38] (a) Rocklage SM, Fellmann JD, Rupprecht GA, Messerly LW, Schrock RR. Multiple metal–carbon bonds. 19. How niobium and tantalum complexes of the type M(CHCMe₃)(PR₃)₂Cl₃ can be modified to give olefin metathesis catalysts. J Am Chem Soc 1981;103:1440–7;
 - (b) Kress J, Wesolek M, Osborn JA. Tungsten (IV) carbenes for the metathesis of olefins. Direct observation and identification of the chain carrying carbene complexes in a highly active catalyst system. J Chem Soc Chem Commun 1982:514–6;
 - (c) Kress J, Osborn JA. Tungsten carbene complexes in olefin metathesis: a cationic and chiral active species. J Am Chem Soc 1983;105:6346–7;
 - (d) Kress J, Osborn JA. Stereochemically nonrigid tungsten alkylidene complexes. Barriers to rotation about the tungsten carbon double bond. J Am Chem Soc 1987;109:3953–60.
- [39] Ivin KJ, Kress J, Osborn JA. Kinetics of initiation and propagation of the metathesis polymerization of the exo diels-alder adduct of cyclopentadiene and maleic anhydride initiated by the tungsten–carbene complex W[C(CH₂)₃CH₂](OCH₂CMe₃)₂Br₂. J Mol Catal 1988;46: 351–8.
- [40] Kress J, Osborn JA, Greene RME, Ivin KJ, Rooney JJ. The detection of 'living' propagating tungsten–carbene complexes in the ring-opening polymerization of bicycloalkenes. J Chem Soc Chem Commun 1985:874–6.
- [41] Quignard F, Leconte M, Basset JM. 2,6-disubstituted phenyl; R = Et or Prⁱ), new uni-component catalysts for metathesis of acyclic and cyclic olefins, with or without functional groups. J Chem Soc Chem Commun 1985:1816–7.

- [42] Ivin KJ, Kress J, Osborn JA. Proton NMR study of the kinetics of metathesis polymerization of 5- and 5, 6-methoxycarbonyl derivatives of bicyclo[2.2.1]hept-2-ene, initiated by cyclopentylidenedibromobis(neopentyloxy)tungsten [cyclopentylidenedibromobis(neopentyloxy)tungsten]. Makromol Chem 1992;193:1695–707.
- [43] (a) Couturier JL, Paillet C, Leconte M, Basset JM, Weiss K. A cyclometalated (aryloxy)chloroneopentylidenetungsten complex: a highly active and stereoselective catalyst for the metathesis of cis- and trans-2-pentene, norbornene, 1-methylnorbornene, and ethyl oleate. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 1992;31:628–31;
 - (b) Basset JM, Leconte M, Lefebvre F, Hamilton JG, Rooney JJ. Stereoselectivity in cyclic and acyclic metathesis reactions. Macromol Chem Phys 1997;198:3499–506.
- [44] (a) Schaverien CJ, Dewan JC, Schrock RR. Multiple metal-carbon bonds. 43. Well-characterized, highly active, Lewis acid free olefin metathesis catalysts. J Am Chem Soc 1986;108:2771–3;
 - (b) Schrock RR, DePue RT, Feldman J, Schaverien CJ, Dewan JC, Liu AH. Preparation and reactivity of several alkylidene complexes of the type W(CHR')(N-2,6-C₆H₃iso-Pr2)(OR)₂ and related tungstacyclobutane complexes. Controlling metathesis activity through the choice of alkoxide ligand. J Am Chem Soc 1988;110:1423–35;
 - (c) Schrock RR. Living ring-opening metathesis polymerization catalyzed by well-characterized transition-metal alkylidene complexes. Acc Chem Res 1990;23:158–65.
- [45] Schrock RR, Feldman J, Cannizzo LF, Grubbs RH. Ringopening polymerization of norbornene by a living tungsten alkylidene complex. Macromolecules 1987;20:1169–72.
- [46] O'Donoghue MB, Schrock RR, LaPointe AM, Davis WM. Preparation of well-defined, metathetically active oxo alkylidene complexes of tungsten. Organometallics 1996;15:1334–6.
- [47] (a) Schrock RR, Krouse SA, Knoll K, Feldman J, Murdzek JS, Yang DC. Controlled ring-opening metathesis polymerization by molybdenum and tungsten alkylidene complexes. J Mol Catal 1988;46:243–53;
 - (b) Schrock RR, Yap KB, Yang DC, Sitzmann H, Sita LR, Bazan GC. Evaluation of cyclopentene-based chaintransfer agents for living ring-opening metathesis polymerization. Macromolecules 1989;22:3191–200;
 - (c) Dounis P, Feast WJ. A route to low polydispersity linear and star polyethylenes via ring-opening metathesis polymerization. Polymer 1996;37:2547–54;
 - (d) Trzaska ST, Lee L-BW, Register RA. Synthesis of narrow-distribution "perfect" polyethylene and its block copolymers by polymerization of cyclopentene. Macromolecules 2000;33:9215–21.
- [48] Wu Z, Wheeler DR, Grubbs RH. Living ring-opening metathesis polymerization of cyclobutene: the thermodynamic effect of a reversibly binding ligand. J Am Chem Soc 1992;114:146–51.
- [49] (a) Shirakawa H. The discovery of polyacetylene film: the dawning of an era of conducting polymers (Nobel lecture). Angew Chem Int Ed 2001;40:2574–80;
 - (b) MacDiarmid AG. "Synthetic metals": a novel role for organic polymers (Nobel lecture). Angew Chem Int Ed 2001;40:2581–90;

- (c) Heeger AJ. Semiconducting and metallic polymers: the fourth generation of polymeric materials (Nobel lecture). Angew Chem Int Ed 2001;40:2591–611.
- [50] (a) Edwards JH, Feast WJ. A new synthesis of poly(acetylene). Polymer 1980;21:595–6;
 - (b) Edwards JH, Feast WJ, Bott DC. New routes to conjugated polymers: 1. A two step route to polyacetylene. Polymer 1984;25:395–8;
 - (c) Bott DC, Brown CS, Chai CK, Walker NS, Feast WJ, Foot PJS, et al. Durham poly acetylene: preparation and properties of the unoriented material. Synth Met 1986; 14:245–69.
- [51] (a) Swager TM, Dougherty DA, Grubbs RH. Strained rings as a source of unsaturation: polybenzvalene, a new soluble polyacetylene precursor. J Am Chem Soc 1988; 110:2973–4;
 - (b) Swager TM, Grubbs RH. New morphologies of polyacetylene from the precursor polymer polybenzvalene. J Am Chem Soc 1989;111:4413–22.
- [52] (a) Korshak YV, Korshak VV, Kanischka G, Höcker H. A new route to polyacetylene. Ring-opening polymerization of 1,3,5,7-cyclooctatetraene with metathesis catalysts. Makromol Chem Rapid Commun 1985;6: 685–92;
 - (b) Klavetter FL, Grubbs RH. Polycyclooctatetraene (polyacetylene): synthesis and properties. J Am Chem Soc 1988;110:7807–13.
- [53] Schrock RR, Murdzek JS, Bazan GC, Robbins J, DiMare M, O'Regan M. Synthesis of molybdenum imido alkylidene complexes and some reactions involving acyclic olefins. J Am Chem Soc 1990;112:3875–86.
- [54] (a) Bazan GC, Khosravi E, Schrock RR, Feast WJ, Gibson VC, O'Regan MB, et al. Living ring-opening metathesis polymerization of 2,3-difunctionalized norbornadienes by Mo(CHBu-t-Bu)(2,6-i-Pr-NC₆H₃)(OBu-t-Bu)₂. J Am Chem Soc 1990;112:8378–87;
 - (b) Bazan GC, Oskam JH, Cho H-N, Park LY, Schrock RR. Living ring-opening metathesis polymerization of 2,3-difunctionalized 7-oxanorbornenes and 7-oxanorbornadienes by Mo(CHCMe₂R)(N-2,6-C₆H₃-i-Pr₂) (O-*t*-Bu)₂ and Mo(CHCMe₂R)(N-2,6-C6H3-i-Pr₂)(OC-Me₂CF₃)₂. J Am Chem Soc 1991;113:6899–907;
 - (c) Bazan GC, Schrock RR, Cho H-N, Gibson VC. Polymerization of functionalized norbornenes employing Mo(CH-t-Bu)(NAr)(O-t-Bu)₂ as the initiator. Macromolecules 1991;24:4495–502.
- [55] (a) Khosravi E, Al-Hajaji AA. Ring opening metathesis polymerisation of *n*-alkyl norbornene dicarboxyimides using well-defined initiators. Polymer 1998;39:5619–25;
 - (b) Khosravi E, Feast WJ, Al-Hajaji AA, Leejarkpai TJ. ROMP of n-alkyl norbornene dicarboxyimides: from classical to well-defined initiators, an overview. J Mol Catal A: Chem 2000;160:1–11.
- [56] (a) Coles MP, Gibson VC, Mazzariol L, North M, Teasdale WG, Williams CM, et al. Amino acid derived homochiral polymers via ring-opening metathesis polymerisation. J Chem Soc Chem Commun 1994: 2505–6;
 - (b) Biagini SCG, Coles MP, Gibson VC, Giles MR, Marshall EL, North M. Living ring-opening metathesis polymerisation of amino ester functionalised norbornenes. Polymer 1998;39:1007–14.

- [57] Bazan GC, Schrock RR. Synthesis of star block copolymers by controlled ring-opening metathesis polymerization. Macromolecules 1991;24:817–23.
- [58] (a) Bazan GC, Khosravi E, Schrock RR, Feast WJ, Gibson VC. Living and highly stereoregular ring-opening polymerization of 5,6-difunctionalized norbornadienes by a well-characterized molybdenum catalyst. Polym Commun 1989;30:258–60;
 - (b) Bazan GC, Khosravi E, Schrock RR, Feast WJ, Gibson VC, O'Regan MB, et al. Living ring-opening metathesis polymerization of 2,3-difunctionalized norbornadienes by Mo(CHBu-t-Bu)(N-2,6-C₆H₃-i-Pr)(O-t-Bu)₂. J Am Chem Soc 1990;112:8378–87;
 - (c) Feast WJ, Gibson VC, Marshall EL. A remarkable ancillary ligand effect in living ring-opening metathesis polymerisation. J Chem Soc Chem Commun 1992; 1:1157–8.
- [59] (a) Oskam JH, Schrock RR. Rotational isomers of molybdenum(VI) alkylidene complexes and cis/trans polymer structure: investigations in ring-opening metathesis polymerization. J Am Chem Soc 1993;115:11831–45;
 - (b) O'Dell R, McConville DH, Hofmeister GE, Schrock RR. Polymerization of enantiomerically pure 2,3-dicarboalkoxynorbornadienes and 5,6-disubstituted norbornenes by well-characterized molybdenum ring-opening metathesis polymerization initiators. Direct determination of tacticity in cis, highly tactic and trans, highly tactic polymers. J Am Chem Soc 1994;116: 3414–23.
- [60] McConville DH, Wolf JR, Schrock RR. Synthesis of chiral molybdenum ROMP initiators and all-cis highly tactic poly(2,3-(R)-2-norbornadiene) ($R = CF_3$ or CO₂Me). J Am Chem Soc 1993;115:4413–4.
- [61] (a) Schrock RR, Krouse SA, Knoll K, Feldman J, Murdzek JS, Yang DC. Controlled ring-opening metathesis polymerization by molybdenum and tungsten alkylidene complexes. J Mol Catal 1988;46:243–53;
 - (b) Dounis P, Feast WJ. A route to low polydispersity linear and star polyethylenes via ring-opening metathesis polymerization. Polymer 1996;37:2547–54.
- [62] Trzaska ST, Lee L-BW, Register RA. Synthesis of narrowdistribution "perfect" polyethylene and its block copolymers by polymerization of cyclopentene. Macromolecules 2000; 33:9215–21.
- [63] Matyjaszewski K, Xia J. Atom transfer radical polymerization. Chem Rev 2001;101:2921–90.
- [64] Coca S, Paik H, Matyjaszewski K. Block copolymers by transformation of living ring-opening metathesis polymerization into controlled/"living" atom transfer radical polymerization. Macromolecules 1997;30:6513–6.
- [65] (a) Alder RW, Khosravi PR. Preparation of poly[(1,1dipropyl)butane-1,4-diyl], (Pr₂CCH₂CH₂CH₂)_n, via regiospecific ring opening polymerisation of 3,3-dipropylcyclobutene. J Chem Soc Chem Commun 1994: 1235–6;
 - (b) Wu Z, Grubbs RH. Preparation of alternating copolymers from the ring-opening metathesis polymerization of 3-methylcyclobutene and 3,3-dimethylcyclobutene. Macromolecules 1995;28:3502–8.
- [66] (a) Perrott MG, Novak BM. Living ring-opening metathesis polymerizations of 3,4-difunctional cyclobutenes. Macromolecules 1995;28:3492–4;

- (b) Perrott MG, Novak BM. Living ring-opening metathesis polymerizations of 3,4-disubstituted cyclobutenes and synthesis of polybutadienes with protic functionalities. Macromolecules 1996;29:1817.
- [67] Singh R, Czekelius C, Schrock RR. Living ring-opening metathesis polymerizations of cyclopropenes. Macromolecules 2006;39:1316–7.
- [68] Johnson LK, Grubbs RH, Ziller JW. Synthesis of tungsten vinyl alkylidene complexes via the reactions of $WCl_2(NAr)(PX_3)_3$ (X = R, OMe) precursors with 3,3disubstituted cyclopropenes. J Am Chem Soc 1993;115: 8130–45.
- [69] Trnka TM, Grubbs RH. The development of $L_2X_2Ru = CHR$ olefin metathesis catalysts: an organometallic success story. Acc Chem Res 2001;34:18–29.
- [70] (a) Porri L, Rossi R, Diversi P, Lucherini A. Ring-opening polymerization of cycloolefins with catalysts derived from ruthenium and iridium. Makromol Chem 1974; 175:3097–115;
 - (b) Porri L, Diversi P, Lucherini A, Rossi R. Catalysts derived from ruthenium and iridium for ring-opening polymerization of cycloolefins. Makromol Chem 1975; 176:3121–5.
- [71] Novak BM, Grubbs RH. The ring opening metathesis polymerization of 7-oxabicyclo[2.2.1]hept-5-ene derivatives: a new acyclic polymeric ionophore. J Am Chem Soc 1988;110:960–1.
- [72] (a) Novak BM, Grubbs RH. Catalytic organometallic chemistry in water: the aqueous ring-opening metathesis polymerization of 7-oxanorbornene derivatives. J Am Chem Soc 1988;110:7542–3;
 - (b) Hillmyer MA, Lepetit C, McGrath DV, Novak BM, Grubbs RH. Aqueous ring-opening metathesis polymerization of carboximide-functionalized 7-oxanorbornenes. Macromolecules 1992;25:3345–50.
- [73] (a) Feast WJ, Harrison DB. Aqueous metathesis polymerisations of heteropolycyclic alkenes using transition metal chloride catalysts. J Mol Catal 1991;65:63–72;
 - (b) Lu SY, Quayle P, Heatley F, Booth C, Yeates SG, Padget JC. Aqueous ring-opening metathesis polymerization of *exo.exo-2*,3-bis(methoxymethyl)-7-oxanorbornene catalyzed by ruthenium trichloride. Macromolecules 1992;25:2692–7;
 - (c) Zenkl E, Stelzer F. The aqueous ring-opening metathesis polymerization of 7-oxa-norbornene-2,3-dicarboxylc acid dimethyl ester and norbornene with Ru catalysts. J Mol Catal 1992;76:1–14.
- [74] France MB, Grubbs RH, McGrath DV, Paciello RA. Chain transfer during the aqueous ring-opening metathesis polymerization of 7-oxanorbornene derivatives. Macromolecules 1993;26:4742–7.
- [75] Nguyen ST, Johnson LK, Grubbs RH, Ziller JW. Ringopening metathesis polymerization (ROMP) of norbornene by a group VIII carbene complex in protic media. J Am Chem Soc 1992;114:3974–5.
- [76] Louie J, Grubbs RH. Metathesis of electron-rich olefins: structure and reactivity of electron-rich carbene complexes. Organometallics 2002;21:2153–64.
- [77] Wu Z, Benedicto AD, Grubbs RH. Living ring-opening metathesis polymerization of bicyclo[3.2.0]heptene catalyzed by a ruthenium alkylidene complex. Macromolecules 1993; 26:4975–7.

- [78] Nguyen ST, Grubbs RH, Ziller JW. Syntheses and activities of new single-component, ruthenium-based olefin metathesis catalysts. J Am Chem Soc 1993;115:9858–9.
- [79] Bielawski CW, Benitez D, Morita T, Grubbs RH. Synthesis of end-functionalized poly(norbornene)s via ring-opening metathesis polymerization. Macromolecules 2001;34:8610–8.
- [80] Kanoaka S, Grubbs RH. Synthesis of block copolymers of silicon-containing norbornene derivatives via living ringopening metathesis polymerization catalyzed by a ruthenium carbene complex. Macromolecules 1995;28:4707–13.
- [81] (a) Schwab P, France MB, Ziller JW, Grubbs RH. A series of well-defined metathesis catalysts-synthesis of [RuCl₂(= CHR')(PR₃)₂] and its reactions. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 1995;34:2039–41;
 - (b) Schwab P, Grubbs RH, Ziller JW. Synthesis and applications of RuCl₂(= CHR')(PR₃)₂: the influence of the alkylidene moiety on metathesis activity. J Am Chem Soc 1996;118:100–10.
- [82] Gibson VC, Okada T. Synthesis of end-functionalized polynorbornenes and polynorbornanes via metathesis: novel macromonomers for polycondensation reactions. Macromolecules 2000;33:655–6.
- [83] (a) Lynn DM, Kanoaka S, Grubbs RH. Living ringopening metathesis polymerization in aqueous media catalyzed by well-defined ruthenium carbene complexes. J Am Chem Soc 1996;118:784–90;
 - (b) Weck M, Schwab P, Grubbs R H. Synthesis of ABA triblock copolymers of norbornenes and 7-oxanorbornenes via living ring-opening metathesis polymerization using well-defined, bimetallic ruthenium catalysts. Macromolecules 1996;29:1789–93;
 - (c) Maughon BR, Grubbs RH. Ruthenium alkylidene initiated living ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP) of 3-substituted cyclobutenes. Macromolecules 1997;30:3459–69;
 - (d) Maughon BR, Weck M, Mohr B, Grubbs RH. Influence of backbone rigidity on the thermotropic behavior of side-chain liquid crystalline polymers synthesized by ring-opening metathesis polymerization. Macromolecules 1997;30:257–65;
 - (e) Weck M, Mohr B, Maughon BR, Grubbs RH. Synthesis of discotic columnar side-chain liquid crystalline polymers by ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP). Macromolecules 1997;30:6430–7.
- [84] Ulman M, Grubbs RH. Ruthenium carbene-based olefin metathesis initiators: catalyst decomposition and longevity. J Org Chem 1999;64:7202–7.
- [85] Bielawski CW, Louie J, Grubbs RH. Tandem catalysis: three mechanistically distinct reactions from a single ruthenium complex. J Am Chem Soc 2000;122:12872–3.
- [86] Robson DA, Gibson VC, Davies RG, North M. A new and highly efficient Grubbs initiator for ring-opening metathesis polymerization. Macromolecules 1999;32:6371–3.
- [87] Bielawski CW, Grubbs RH. Increasing the initiation efficiency of ruthenium-based ring-opening metathesis initiators: effect of excess phosphine. Macromolecules 2001;34:8838–40.
- [88] (a) Dias EL, Nguyen ST, Grubbs RH. Well-defined ruthenium olefin metathesis catalysts: mechanism and activity. J Am Chem Soc 1997;119:3887–97;
 - (b) Sanford MS, Ulman M, Grubbs RH. New insights into the mechanism of ruthenium-catalyzed olefin metathesis reactions. J Am Chem Soc 2001;123:749–50;

- (c) Sanford MS, Love JA, Grubbs RH. Mechanism and activity of ruthenium olefin metathesis catalysts. J Am Chem Soc 2001;123:6543–54;
- (d) Trnka TM, Morgan JP, Sanford MS, Wilhelm TE, Scholl M, Choi T-L, et al. Synthesis and activity of ruthenium alkylidene complexes coordinated with phosphine and N-heterocyclic carbene ligands. J Am Chem Soc 2003;125:2546–58.
- [89] (a) Herrmann WA, Köcher C. N-heterocyclic carbenes. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 1997;36:2163–87;
 - (b) Weskamp T, Schattenmann WC, Spiegler M, Herrmann WA. A novel class of ruthenium catalysts for olefin metathesis. Angew Chem Int Ed 1998;37:2490–3;
 - (c) Arduengo AJ. Looking for stable carbenes: the difficulty in starting anew. Acc Chem Res 1999;32:913–21;
 - (d) Huang J, Schanz H-J, Stevens ED, Nolan SP. Stereoelectronic effects characterizing nucleophilic carbene ligands bound to the Cp*RuCl (Cp* = η^5 -C₅Me₅) moiety: a structural and thermochemical investigation. Organometallics 1999;18:5375–80;
 - (e) Bourissou D, Guerret O, Gabbaï FP, Bertrand G. Stable carbenes. Chem Rev 2000;100:39–91.
- [90] (a) Scholl M, Ding S, Lee CW, Grubbs RH. Synthesis and activity of a new generation of ruthenium-based olefin metathesis catalysts coordinated with 1,3-dimesityl-4,5dihydroimidazol-2-ylidene ligands. Org Lett 1999;1: 953–6;
 - (b) Scholl M, Trnka TM, Morgan JP, Grubbs RH. Increased ring closing metathesis activity of rutheniumbased olefin metathesis catalysts coordinated with imidazolin-2-ylidene ligands. Tetrahedron Lett 1999;40: 2247–50;
 - (c) Weskamp T, Kohl FJ, Herrmann WA. N-heterocyclic carbenes: novel ruthenium–alkylidene complexes. J Organomet Chem 1999;582:362–5;
 - (d) Weskamp T, Kohl FJ, Hieringer W, Gleich D, Herrmann WA. Highly active ruthenium catalysts for olefin metathesis: the synergy of N-heterocyclic carbenes and coordinatively labile ligands. Angew Chem Int Ed 1999;38:2416–9;
 - (e) Ackermann L, Furstner A, Weskamp T, Kohl FJ, Herrmann WA. Ruthenium carbene complexes with imidazolin-2-ylidene ligands allow the formation of tetrasubstituted cycloalkenes by RCM. Tetrahedron Lett 1999;40:4787–90;
 - (f) Huang J, Stevens ED, Nolan SP, Petersen JL. Olefin metathesis-active ruthenium complexes bearing a nucleophilic carbene ligand. J Am Chem Soc 1999;121: 2674–8.
- [91] Bielawski CW, Grubbs RH. Highly efficient ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP) using new ruthenium catalysts containing N-heterocyclic carbene ligands. Angew Chem Int Ed 2000;39:2903–6.
- [92] Scherman OA, Grubbs RH. Polycyclooctatetraene (polyacetylene) produced with a ruthenium olefin metathesis catalyst. Synth Met 2001;124:431–4.
- [93] (a) Sanford MS, Love JA, Grubbs RH. A versatile precursor for the synthesis of new ruthenium olefin metathesis catalysts. Organometallics 2001;20: 5314–8;
 - (b) Love JA, Morgan JP, Trnka TM, Grubbs RH. A practical and highly active ruthenium-based catalyst that

effects the cross metathesis of acrylonitrile. Angew Chem Int Ed 2002;41:4035–7;

- (c) Love JA, Sanford MS, Day MW, Grubbs RH. Synthesis, structure, and activity of enhanced initiators for olefin metathesis. J Am Chem Soc 2003;125:10103–9;
- (d) Slugovs C, Demel S, Stelzer F. Ring opening metathesis polymerisation in donor solvents. Chem Commun 2002:2572–3;
- (e) Frenzel U, Weskamp T, Kohl FJ, Schattenmann WC, Nuyken O, Herrmann WA. N-heterocyclic carbenes: application of ruthenium–alkylidene complexes in ringopening metathesis polymerization. J Organomet Chem 1999;586:263–5.
- [94] (a) Mohr B, Lynn DM, Grubbs RH. Synthesis of watersoluble, aliphatic phosphines and their application to well-defined ruthenium olefin metathesis. Organometallics 1996;15:4317–25;
 - (b) Kirkland TA, Lynn DM, Grubbs RH. Ring-closing metathesis in methanol and water. J Org Chem 1998;63:9904–9;
 - (c) Lynn DM, Mohr B, Grubbs RH, Henling LM, Day MW. Water-soluble ruthenium alkylidenes: synthesis, characterization, and application to olefin metathesis in protic solvents. J Am Chem Soc 2000;122:6601–9;
 - (d) Lynn DM, Grubbs RH. Novel reactivity of ruthenium alkylidenes in protic solvents: degenerate alkylidene proton exchange. J Am Chem Soc 2001;123:3187–93.

- [95] (a) Gallivan JP, Jordan JP, Grubbs RH. A neutral, watersoluble olefin metathesis catalyst based on an Nheterocyclic carbene ligand. Tetrahedron Lett 2005;46:2577–80;
 - (b) Hong SH, Grubbs RH. Highly active water-soluble olefin metathesis catalyst. J Am Chem Soc 2006;128: 3508–9.
- [96] (a) Chabanas M, Baudouin A, Coperet C, Basset JM. A highly active well-defined rhenium heterogenous catalyst prepared via surface organometallic chemistry. J Am Chem Soc 2001;123:2062–3;
 - (b) Solans-Monfort X, Clor E, Coperet C, Eisenstein O. d(0) Re-based olefin metathesis catalysts, Re (= CR)(= CHR)(X)(Y): the key role of X and Y ligands for efficient active sites. J Am Chem Soc 2005;127:14015–25.
- [97] (a) Trnka TM, Day MW, Grubbs RH. Olefin metathesis with 1,1-difluoroethylene. Angew Chem Int Ed 2001;40: 3441–4;
 - (b) Brothers PJ, Roper WR. Transition-metal dihalocarbene complexes. Chem Rev 1988;88:1293–326.
- [98] (a) Bielawski CW, Benitez D, Grubbs RH. An "endless" route to cyclic polymers. Science 2002;297:2041–4;
 - (b) Bielawski CW, Benitez D, Grubbs RH. Synthesis of cyclic polybutadiene via ring-opening metathesis polymerization: the importance of removing trace linear contaminants. J Am Chem Soc 2003;125:8424–5.